
Committee Webpage: http://www.utcourts.gov/committees/RulesPC/ 

 

Agenda 
Supreme Court’s Advisory Committee  
on the Rules of Professional Conduct 

 

August 2, 2021 
5:00 to 7:00 p.m. 

 

Via Webex 

Welcome and approval of minutes Tab 1 Simón Cantarero, Chair 

Rules 8.4 and 14-301: 
• Finalize Tab 2 

 
Adam Bondy (subcommittee chair),  
Judge Michael Edwards, Steve Johnson,  
Judge Trent Nelson, Amy Oliver,  
Austin Riter, Professor Dane Thorley 
 

Information relevant to  
Rules 8.4 and 14-301 Tab 3  

Rule 5.5 (Remote Work) 
• back with SC comments 

Rule 1.0 
 

Tab 4 

 
Judge James Gardner, Joni Jones 
(subcommittee chair), Phil Lowry,  
Cory Talbot, Katherine Venti,  
Billy Walker, Alex Natt 
 

Rule 1.5 and 5.4 (Referral fees, fee 
sharing, and solicitation) 

• back with SC comments 
Tab 5 

 
Simón Cantarero, Alyson McAlister 
(subcommittee chair), Angie Allen, Dan 
Brough, Tim Conde, Jurhee Rice, Gary 
Sackett 
 
Lucy Ricca, Jeffrey Eisenberg, Shelley 
Miller 
 

2021 Meeting Schedule: 1st Monday of the month at 5pm.  

Next meeting: September 13, 2021 (Moved for Labor Day).  

http://www.utcourts.gov/committees/RulesPC/


Tab 1 
 



 

Utah Supreme Court’s 
Advisory Committee on the Rules of Professional Conduct 

 
[Draft] Meeting Minutes 

June 7, 2021 
WEBEX 

17:00 Mountain Time  
 

J. Simón Cantarero, Chair 
 
 

Attendees: Staff: 
J. Simón Cantarero, Chair Nancy Sylvester 
M. Alex Natt, Recording Secretary 
Hon. James Gardner 

 

Katherine Venti  
Alyson McAllister Guests: 
Cory Talbot 
Adam Bondy 
Joni Jones 
Gary Sackett (Emeritus) 
Amy Oliver 
Hon. Mike Edwards 
Jurhee Rice  
Dan Brough 
Austin Riter 
Hon. Trent Nelson (Emeritus) 
Billy Walker  
Angie Allen  
Phil Lowry 
Tim Conde 
 
 
Absent: 
Steven Johnson (Emeritus) 
Vanessa Ramos  
Dane Thorley  

Scotti Hill (Utah State Bar) 
Jacqueline Carlton (Legislative Research and 
General Counsel)  



 
  

 
1. Welcome and approval of the May 3, 2021 meeting minutes: (Mr. Cantarero)  

 
Chair Cantarero recognized the existence of a quorum, welcomed everyone to 
the meeting including the guests.  He welcomed Ms. Carlton and Ms. Hill.  
Regarding the minutes from the last meeting, Mr. Walker was shown as a guest 
but needed to be corrected as a member of the Committee.   Phil Lowry and 
Angela Allen also attended the meeting but were marked absent.   Vanessa 
Ramos and Dane Thorley were absent but excused and will be noted as such.   
 
The Chair added language regarding a discussion regarding Rules 1.5 and 5.4.   
 
With those changes Judge Gardner moved to approve the minutes and Judge 
Edwards seconded the Motion.  The minutes were adopted unanimously with 
the corrections.  
 

2. Rule 5.5 (Remote Work):  (Ms. Jones) 
 

Ms. Jones discussed the work of the Rule 5.5 subcommittee and mentioned some 
amendments that were suggested by Mr. Sackett. The Committee reviewed the 
proposed language and adds a comment noting that this Rule deviates from the 
ABA model rule.  With those changes the Committee voted to recommend the 
proposed rule amendments to the Supreme Court. Ms. Venti moved and Ms. 
McAllister seconded.  The Motion passed unanimously.   

 
3. Rules 8.4 and 14-301: (Mr. Bondy) 

 
Mr. Bondy presented on behalf of the subcommittee and proposed 3 options in 
Rule 14-301 standard 3 for the Committee’s evaluation.  Judge Nelson expressed 
concerns in general with restriction of speech on attorneys in Rule 14-301 and 
whether the rule would survive strict scrutiny analysis.  He opined that the 
Constitution’s role is generally not to limit individual rights, which in his 
opinion are not created by the Constitution but simply exist. He indicated that he 
believed individuals are free to act in a discriminatory fashion unless specific 
statutes or opinions bar discrimination as in the employment law context.  Mr. 
Riter and others expressed a contrary opinion and the Committee discussed the 
subject at length. Mr. Lowry noted that restrictions on speech by military 
attorneys have been upheld by the courts.   
 
Mr. Walker noted a new opinion from the Colorado Supreme Court captioned In 
the Matter of Robert E. Abrams, 2021 CO 44, which upheld the Colorado Rule 
8.4(g). The court found the rule Constitutional in a circumstance where counsel 
made a comment denigrating the presiding judge’s physical appearance and 
apparent sexual orientation. Mr. Walker circulated the opinion for committee 
review.  Ms. Venti suggested that the Committee review the opinion before 



voting on the 3 proposals.  The Chair tabled this matter pending the review and 
asked that the committee come prepared in August to vote on this matter.  
 

4. Rules 1.5 and 5.4 (Ms. McAllister) 
 
The Committee began with a review of Rule 5.4 generally and particularly some 
suggested revisions circulated by the Chair, Mr. Cantarero.  Ms. McAllister 
suggested some revisions, which the Committee discussed.   
 
Rule 1.5 was then reviewed and the Chair invited the subcommittee to weigh in 
on some revisions he made to their proposed work.  The Committee discussed 
whether we are focusing too much on referral fees as a specific case or whether 
the focus on contingent fee cases should or shouldn’t inform the Rule.  Ms. 
Oliver commented that she believes the Committee was to put forth a framework 
to ensure that guard rails existed to define appropriate referral fees after the 
sandbox permitted them for the first time.  Mr. Walker agreed with that 
perspective.   
 
Mr. Cantarero also highlighted his addition that lawyers cannot avoid the 
restriction by offering value in kind or other compensation other than a cash 
payment.   
 
The Committee reviewed his suggestions and makes some revisions of its own.  
 
Ms. McAllister moved to recommend Rule 5.4 and comments 3 and 5 as 
amended by the Committee to the Supreme Court.  Ms.  Oliver seconded the 
motion.  The Motion was approved unanimously. 
 
Ms. McAllister moved to recommend to the Supreme Court amendments to Rule 
1.5 and the addition of comments 7 and 8, which resulted in a renumbering of 
subsequent comments 9 and 10.  Mr. Walker seconded the Motion.  The Motion 
passed unanimously.   
 

5. Fond Farewell.  
The Chair thanked Vanessa Ramos for her excellent service to the Committee as 
this was her last meeting.  He also thanked Tim Conde for his service.  Mr. Simon 
noted that Nancy Sylvester will be leaving as staff liaison to join the Utah Bar as 
General Counsel. She will be missed by this Committee but the Bar will be 
served well by her skills.     

 
6. Adjournment.  

The meeting adjourned at 19:02.   The next meeting will be held on August 2, 
2021 via Webex. 



Tab 2 
 



RPC08.04. Amend Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

Rule 8.4. Misconduct. 1 

(1) It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: 2 

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist 3 

or induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another; 4 

(b) commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, 5 

trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects; 6 

(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation; 7 

(d) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice; 8 

(e) state or imply an ability to influence improperly a government agency or official 9 

or to achieve results by means that violate the Rules of Professional Conduct or other 10 

law; or 11 

(f) knowingly assist a judge or judicial officer in conduct that is a violation of 12 

applicable rules of judicial conduct or other law; 13 

(g) notwithstanding the number of employees in the lawyer’s firm, engage in any 14 

conduct that is listed as a discriminatory or prohibited employment practice under Sec 15 

2000e-2 [Section 703] of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, or under 16 

Section 34A-5-106 of the Utah Antidiscrimination Act, as amended, or pursuant to 17 

applicable court cases; or 18 

(h) egregiously violate, or engage in a pattern of repeated violations of, Rule 14-301 19 

if such violations harm the lawyer’s client or another lawyer’s client or are prejudicial to 20 

the administration of justice. 21 

(2) Paragraphs (g) and (h) do not apply to expression or conduct protected by the 22 

First Amendment to the United States Constitution or by Article I of the Utah 23 

Constitution.  Legitimate advocacy does not violate subsections (1)(g) or (1)(h) of this 24 

rule. 25 

 26 



RPC08.04. Amend Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

Comment 27 

[1] Lawyers are subject to discipline when they violate or attempt to violate the 28 

Rules of Professional Conduct or knowingly assist or induce another to do so through 29 

the acts of another, as when they request or instruct an agent to do so on the lawyer’s 30 

behalf. Paragraph (a), however, does not prohibit a lawyer from advising a client 31 

concerning action the client is legally entitled to take. 32 

[1a] An act of professional misconduct under Rule 8.4(1)(b), (c), (d), (e), or (f), (g), or 33 

(h) cannot be counted as a separate violation of Rule 8.4(1)(a) for the purpose of 34 

determining sanctions. Conduct that violates other Rules of Professional Conduct, 35 

however, may be a violation of Rule 8.4(1)(a) for the purpose of determining sanctions. 36 

[2] Many kinds of illegal conduct reflect adversely on fitness to practice law, such as 37 

offenses involving fraud and the offense of willful failure to file an income tax return. 38 

However, some kinds of offenses carry no such implication. Traditionally, the 39 

distinction was drawn in terms of offenses involving "moral turpitude." That concept 40 

can be construed to include offenses concerning some matters of personal morality, 41 

such as adultery and comparable offenses, that have no specific connection to fitness for 42 

the practice of law. Although a lawyer is personally answerable to the entire criminal 43 

law, a lawyer should be professionally answerable only for offenses that indicate lack of 44 

those characteristics relevant to law practice. Offenses involving violence, dishonesty, 45 

breach of trust or serious interference with the administration of justice are in that 46 

category. A pattern of repeated offenses, even ones of minor significance when 47 

considered separately, can indicate indifference to legal obligation. 48 

[3] A lawyer who, in the course of representing a client, knowingly manifests by 49 

words or conduct bias or prejudice based upon race,; color; sex,; pregnancy, childbirth, 50 

or pregnancy-related conditions; age, if the individual is 40 years of age or older; 51 

religion,; national origin,; disability, age, ; sexual orientation,; gender identity or 52 

socioeconomic status genetic information, violates may violate paragraph (d) when 53 

such actions are prejudicial to the administration of justice. The protected classes listed 54 



RPC08.04. Amend Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

in this comment are consistent with those enumerated in the Utah Antidiscrimination 55 

Act or 1965, Utah Code Sec. 34A-5-106(1)(a) (2016), and in federal statutes, and is not 56 

meant to be an exhaustive list as the statutes may be amended from time to time.  57 

Legitimate advocacy respecting the foregoing factors does not violate paragraph (d). A 58 

trial judge’s finding that peremptory challenges were exercised on a discriminatory 59 

basis does not alone establish a violation of this rule. 60 

[3a] The Standards of Professionalism and Civility approved by the Utah Supreme 61 

Court are intended to improve the administration of justice.  An egregious violation or a 62 

pattern of repeated violations of the Standards of Professionalism and Civility may 63 

support a finding that the lawyer has violated paragraph (d). 64 

[4] The substantive law of antidiscrimination and anti-harassment statutes and case 65 

law governs the application of paragraph (g), except that for the purposes of 66 

determining a violation of paragraph (g), the size of the law firm or number of 67 

employees is not a defense.  Paragraph (g) does not limit the ability of a lawyer to 68 

accept, decline, or, in accordance with Rule 1.16, withdraw from representation, nor 69 

does paragraph (g) preclude legitimate advice or advocacy consistent with these rules.  70 

Discrimination or harassment does not need to be previously proven by a judicial or 71 

administrative tribunal or fact finder in order to allege or prove a violation of paragraph 72 

(g).  Lawyers may discuss the benefits and challenges of diversity and inclusion without 73 

violating paragraph (g).  Unless otherwise prohibited by law, implementing or 74 

declining to implement initiatives aimed at recruiting, hiring, retaining, and advancing 75 

employees of diverse backgrounds or from historically underrepresented groups, or 76 

sponsoring diverse law student organizations, are not violations of paragraph (g). 77 

[5] A lawyer does not violate paragraph (g) by limiting the scope or subject matter of 78 

the lawyer’s practice or by limiting the lawyer’s practice to members of any particular 79 

population in accordance with these Rules and other law.  A lawyer may charge and 80 

collect reasonable fees and expenses for a representation.  Rule 1.5(a).  Lawyers should 81 

also be mindful of their professional obligations under Rule 6.1 to provide legal services 82 



RPC08.04. Amend Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

to those who are unable to pay and their obligations under Rule 6.2 not to avoid 83 

appointments from a tribunal except for good cause.  See Rule 6.2(a), (b), and (c).  A 84 

lawyer’s representation of a client does not constitute an endorsement by the lawyer of 85 

the client’s views or activities.  See Rule 1.2(b). 86 

[4] [6] A lawyer may refuse to comply with an obligation imposed by law upon a 87 

good faith belief that no valid obligation exists. The provisions of Rule 1.2(d) concerning 88 

a good faith challenge to the validity, scope, meaning or application of the law apply to 89 

challenges of legal regulation of the practice of law. 90 

[5] [7] Lawyers holding public office assume legal responsibilities going beyond 91 

those of other citizens. A lawyer's abuse of public office can suggest an inability to fulfill 92 

the professional role of lawyers. The same is true of abuse of positions of private trust 93 

such as trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, agent and officer, director or 94 

manager of a corporation or other organization. 95 

[8] This rule differs from ABA Model Rule 8.4 to the extent that it changes paragraph 96 

(g), adds paragraph (h), and modifies the comments accordingly. 97 

 98 



USB14-301. Amend. Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

1 
 

Rule 14-301. Standards of Professionalism and Civility. 1 

Preamble 2 

A lawyer's conduct should be characterized at all times by personal courtesy and 3 

professional integrity in the fullest sense of those terms. In fulfilling a duty to represent 4 

a client vigorously as lawyers, we must be mindful of our obligations to the 5 

administration of justice, which is a truth-seeking process designed to resolve human 6 

and societal problems in a rational, peaceful, and efficient manner. We must remain 7 

committed to the rule of law as the foundation for a just and peaceful society. For the 8 

purposes of these standards, the term “lawyer” includes a licensed legal practitioner. 9 

Conduct that may be characterized as uncivil, abrasive, abusive, hostile, or 10 

obstructive impedes the fundamental goal of resolving disputes rationally, peacefully, 11 

and efficiently. Such conduct tends to delay and often to deny justice. 12 

Lawyers should exhibit respect, courtesy, candor and cooperation in dealing with 13 

the public and participating in the legal system, and in interacting with other lawyers 14 

and legal professionals. The following standards are designed to encourage lawyers to 15 

meet their obligations to each other, to litigants and to the system of justice, and thereby 16 

achieve the twin goals of civility and professionalism, both of which are hallmarks of a 17 

learned profession dedicated to public service. 18 

Lawyers should educate themselves on the potential impact of using digital 19 

communications and social media, including the possibility that communications 20 

intended to be private may be republished or misused. Lawyers should understand that 21 

digital communications in some circumstances may have a widespread and lasting 22 

impact on their clients, themselves, other lawyers, and the judicial system. 23 

We expect judges and lawyers will make mutual and firm commitments to these 24 

standards. Adherence is expected as part of a commitment by all participants to 25 

improve the administration of justice throughout this State. We further expect lawyers 26 

to educate their clients regarding these standards and judges to reinforce this whenever 27 



USB14-301. Amend. Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

2 
 

clients are present in the courtroom by making it clear that such tactics may hurt the 28 

client’s case. 29 

Although for ease of usage the term “court” is used throughout, these standards 30 

should be followed by all judges and lawyers in all interactions with each other and in 31 

any proceedings law-related activities in this State. Law-related activities include, but 32 

are not limited to, settlement negotiations; depositions; mediations; representation in 33 

legal matters; court appearances; continuing legal education activities; events sponsored 34 

by the Bar, Bar sections, Bar associations; and firm parties.  Copies may be made 35 

available to clients to reinforce our obligation to maintain and foster these standards. 36 

Nothing in these standards supersedes or detracts from existing disciplinary codes or 37 

standards of conduct. 38 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. Preamble [1], [13]; R. Civ. P. 1; R. Civ. P. 65B(b)(5); 39 

R. Crim. P. 1(b); R. Juv. P. 1(b); R. Third District Court 10-1-306; Fed. R. Civ. P. 40 

1; DUCivR 83-1.1(g). 41 

1. Lawyers shall advance the legitimate interests of their clients, without reflecting 42 

any ill-will that clients may have for their adversaries, even if called upon to do so by 43 

another. Instead, lawyers shall treat all other counsel, parties, judges, witnesses, and 44 

other participants in all proceedings in a courteous and dignified manner. 45 

Comment: Lawyers should maintain the dignity and decorum of judicial and 46 

administrative proceedings, as well as the esteem of the legal profession. Respect for the 47 

court includes lawyers’ dress and conduct. When appearing in court, lawyers should 48 

dress professionally, use appropriate language, and maintain a professional demeanor. 49 

In addition, lawyers should advise clients and witnesses about proper courtroom 50 

decorum, including proper dress and language, and should, to the best of their ability, 51 

prevent clients and witnesses from creating distractions or disruption in the courtroom. 52 

The need for dignity and professionalism extends beyond the courtroom. Lawyers 53 

are expected to refrain from inappropriate language, maliciousness, or insulting 54 



USB14-301. Amend. Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

3 
 

behavior in depositions, meetings with opposing counsel and clients, telephone calls, 55 

email, and other exchanges. They should use their best efforts to instruct their clients 56 

and witnesses to do the same. 57 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 1.4; R. Prof. Cond. 1.16(a)(1); R. Prof. Cond. 2.1; R. 58 

Prof. Cond. 3.1; R. Prof. Cond. 3.2; R. Prof. Cond. 3.3(a)(1); R. Prof. Cond. 3.4; R. Prof. 59 

Cond. 3.5(d); R. Prof. Cond. 3.8; R. Prof. Cond. 3.9; R. Prof. Cond. 4.1(a); R. Prof. Cond. 60 

4.4(a); R. Prof. Cond. 8.4(d); R. Civ. P. 10(h); R. Civ. P. 12(f); R. App. P. 24(k); R. Crim. P. 61 

33(a); Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f). 62 

2. Lawyers shall advise their clients that civility, courtesy, and fair dealing are 63 

expected. They are tools for effective advocacy and not signs of weakness. Clients have 64 

no right to demand that lawyers abuse anyone or engage in any offensive or improper 65 

conduct. 66 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. Preamble [5]; R. Prof. Cond. 1.2(a); R. Prof. Cond. 67 

1.2(d); R. Prof. Cond. 1.4(a)(5). 68 

3. Lawyers shall not, without an adequate factual basis, attribute to other counsel or 69 

the court improper motives, purpose, or conduct. Neither written submissions nor oral 70 

presentations may disparage the integrity, intelligence, morals, ethics, or personal 71 

behavior of any adversary or other participant in the legal process unless such matters 72 

are directly relevant under controlling substantive law or are necessary for legitimate 73 

advocacy.  74 

[Three options for paragraph 2 of this standard; the order of these options does not 75 

indicate any particular preference of the subcommittee.] 76 

Option 1: Lawyers shall avoid discriminatory conduct in law-related activities.  77 

Discriminatory conduct includes all unlawful discrimination against persons of 78 

protected classes as those classes are enumerated in the Utah Antidiscrimination Act of 79 

1965, Utah Code section 34A-5-106(1)(a) and applicable federal statutes, as amended 80 

from time to time. 81 



USB14-301. Amend. Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

4 
 

Option 2: Lawyers shall avoid unlawful discrimination against protected classes as 82 

those classes are enumerated in the Utah Antidiscrimination Act of 1965, Utah Code 83 

section 34A-5-106(1)(a) and applicable federal statutes, as amended from time to time. 84 

Option 3: [Eliminate this paragraph completely.] 85 

Comment: Hostile, demeaning, and humiliating communications include all 86 

expressions of discrimination on the basis of race, religion, gender, sexual orientation, 87 

age, handicap, veteran status, or national origin, or casting aspersions on physical traits 88 

or appearance. Lawyers should refrain from acting upon or manifesting bigotry, 89 

discrimination, or prejudice toward any participant in the legal process, even if a client 90 

requests it. 91 

Lawyers should refrain from expressing scorn, superiority, or disrespect. Legal 92 

process should not be issued merely to annoy, humiliate, intimidate, or harass. Special 93 

care should be taken to protect witnesses, especially those who are disabled or under 94 

the age of 18, from harassment or undue contention.   95 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. Preamble [5]; R. Prof. Cond. 3.1; R. Prof. Cond. 3.5; 96 

R. Prof. Cond. 8.4; R. Civ. P. 10(h); R. Civ. P. 12(f); R. App. P. 24(k); R. Crim. P. 33(a); 97 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(f). 98 

4. Lawyers shall never knowingly attribute to other counsel a position or claim that 99 

counsel has not taken or seek to create such an unjustified inference or otherwise seek to 100 

create a “record” that has not occurred. 101 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 3.1; R. Prof. Cond. 3.3(a)(1); R. Prof. Cond. 3.5(a); R. 102 

Prof. Cond. 8.4(c); R. Prof. Cond. 8.4(d). 103 

5. Lawyers shall not lightly seek sanctions and will never seek sanctions against or 104 

disqualification of another lawyer for any improper purpose. 105 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 3.1; R. Prof. Cond. 3.2; R. Prof. Cond. 8.4(c); R. Prof. 106 

Cond. 8.4(d); R. Civ. P. 11(c); R. Civ. P. 16(d); R. Civ. P. 37(a); Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(c)(2). 107 



USB14-301. Amend. Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

5 
 

6. Lawyers shall adhere to their express promises and agreements, oral or written, 108 

and to all commitments reasonably implied by the circumstances or by local custom. 109 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 1.1; R. Prof. Cond. 1.3; R. Prof. Cond. 1.4(a), (b); R. 110 

Prof. Cond. 1.6(a); R. Prof. Cond. 1.9; R. Prof. Cond. 1.13(a), (b); R. Prof. Cond. 1.14; R. 111 

Prof. Cond. 1.15; R. Prof. Cond. 1.16(d); R. Prof. Cond. 1.18(b), (c); R. Prof. Cond. 2.1; R. 112 

Prof. Cond. 3.2; R. Prof. Cond. 3.3; R. Prof. Cond. 3.4(c); R. Prof. Cond. 3.8; R. Prof. 113 

Cond. 5.1; R. Prof. Cond. 5.3; R. Prof. Cond. 8.3(a), (b); R. Prof. Cond. 8.4(c); R. Prof. 114 

Cond. 8.4(d). 115 

7. When committing oral understandings to writing, lawyers shall do so accurately 116 

and completely. They shall provide other counsel a copy for review, and never include 117 

substantive matters upon which there has been no agreement, without explicitly 118 

advising other counsel. As drafts are exchanged, lawyers shall bring to the attention of 119 

other counsel changes from prior drafts. 120 

Comment: When providing other counsel with a copy of any negotiated document 121 

for review, a lawyer should not make changes to the written document in a manner 122 

calculated to cause the opposing party or counsel to overlook or fail to appreciate the 123 

changes. Changes should be clearly and accurately identified in the draft or otherwise 124 

explicitly brought to the attention of other counsel. Lawyers should be sensitive to, and 125 

accommodating of, other lawyers’ inability to make full use of technology and should 126 

provide hard copy drafts when requested and a redline copy, if available. 127 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 3.4(a); R. Prof. Cond. 4.1(a); R. Prof. Cond. 8.4(c); R. 128 

Prof. Cond. 8.4(d); R. App. P. 11(f). 129 

8. When permitted or required by court rule or otherwise, lawyers shall draft orders 130 

that accurately and completely reflect the court’s ruling. Lawyers shall promptly 131 

prepare and submit proposed orders to other counsel and attempt to reconcile any 132 

differences before the proposed orders and any objections are presented to the court. 133 



USB14-301. Amend. Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

6 
 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 3.2; R. Prof. Cond. 8.4; R. Civ. P. 7(f); R. Third 134 

District Court 10-1-306(6). 135 

9. Lawyers shall not hold out the potential of settlement for the purpose of 136 

foreclosing discovery, delaying trial, or obtaining other unfair advantage, and lawyers 137 

shall timely respond to any offer of settlement or inform opposing counsel that a 138 

response has not been authorized by the client. 139 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 3.2; R. Prof. Cond. 3.4(a); R. Prof. Cond. 4.1(a); R. 140 

Prof. Cond. 8.4(c); R. Prof. Cond. 8.4(d). 141 

10. Lawyers shall make good faith efforts to resolve by stipulation undisputed 142 

relevant matters, particularly when it is obvious such matters can be proven, unless 143 

there is a sound advocacy basis for not doing so. 144 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 3.1; R. Prof. Cond. 3.2; R. Prof. Cond. 3.4(d); R. Prof. 145 

Cond. 8.4(d); R. Third District Court 10-1-306 (1)(A); Fed. R. Civ. P. 16(2)(C). 146 

11. Lawyers shall avoid impermissible ex parte communications. 147 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 1.2; R. Prof. Cond. 2.2; R. Prof. Cond. 2.9; R. Prof. 148 

Cond. 3.5; R. Prof. Cond. 5.1; R. Prof. Cond. 5.3; R. Prof. Cond. 8.4(a); R. Prof. Cond. 149 

8.4(d); R. Civ. P. 77(b); R. Juv. P. 2.9(A); Fed. R. Civ. P. 77(b). 150 

12. Lawyers shall not send the court or its staff correspondence between counsel, 151 

unless such correspondence is relevant to an issue currently pending before the court 152 

and the proper evidentiary foundations are met or as such correspondence is 153 

specifically invited by the court. 154 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 3.5(a); R. Prof. Cond. 3.5(b); R. Prof. Cond. 5.1; R. 155 

Prof. Cond. 5.3; R. Prof. Cond. 8.4(a); R. Prof. Cond. 8.4(d). 156 

13. Lawyers shall not knowingly file or serve motions, pleadings or other papers at a 157 

time calculated to unfairly limit other counsel’s opportunity to respond or to take other 158 



USB14-301. Amend. Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

7 
 

unfair advantage of an opponent, or in a manner intended to take advantage of another 159 

lawyer’s unavailability. 160 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 8.4(c); R. Juv. P. 19. 161 

14. Lawyers shall advise their clients that they reserve the right to determine 162 

whether to grant accommodations to other counsel in all matters not directly affecting 163 

the merits of the cause or prejudicing the client’s rights, such as extensions of time, 164 

continuances, adjournments, and admissions of facts. Lawyers shall agree to reasonable 165 

requests for extension of time and waiver of procedural formalities when doing so will 166 

not adversely affect their clients’ legitimate rights. Lawyers shall never request an 167 

extension of time solely for the purpose of delay or to obtain a tactical advantage. 168 

Comment: Lawyers should not evade communication with other counsel, should 169 

promptly acknowledge receipt of any communication, and should respond as soon as 170 

reasonably possible. Lawyers should only use data-transmission technologies as an 171 

efficient means of communication and not to obtain an unfair tactical advantage. 172 

Lawyers should be willing to grant accommodations where the use of technology is 173 

concerned, including honoring reasonable requests to retransmit materials or to provide 174 

hard copies. 175 

Lawyers should not request inappropriate extensions of time or serve papers at 176 

times or places calculated to embarrass or take advantage of an adversary. 177 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 1.2(a); R. Prof. Cond. 2.1; R. Prof. Cond. 3.2; R. Prof. 178 

Cond. 8.4; R. Juv. P. 54. 179 

15. Lawyers shall endeavor to consult with other counsel so that depositions, 180 

hearings, and conferences are scheduled at mutually convenient times. Lawyers shall 181 

never request a scheduling change for tactical or unfair purpose. If a scheduling change 182 

becomes necessary, lawyers shall notify other counsel and the court immediately. If 183 

other counsel requires a scheduling change, lawyers shall cooperate in making any 184 

reasonable adjustments. 185 



USB14-301. Amend. Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

8 
 

Comment: When scheduling and attending depositions, hearings, or conferences, 186 

lawyers should be respectful and considerate of clients’ and adversaries’ time, 187 

schedules, and commitments to others. This includes arriving punctually for scheduled 188 

appointments. Lawyers should arrive sufficiently in advance of trials, hearings, 189 

meetings, depositions, and other scheduled events to be prepared to commence on time. 190 

Lawyers should also advise clients and witnesses concerning the need to be punctual 191 

and prepared. Lawyers who will be late for a scheduled appointment or are aware that 192 

another participant will be late, should notify the court, if applicable, and all other 193 

participants as soon as possible. 194 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 3.2; R. Prof. Cond. 3.4; R. Prof. Cond. 5.1; R. Prof. 195 

Cond. 8.4(a); R. Juv. P. 20; R. Juv. P. 20A. 196 

16. Lawyers shall not cause the entry of a default without first notifying other 197 

counsel whose identity is known, unless their clients’ legitimate rights could be 198 

adversely affected. 199 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 8.4; R. Civ. P. 55(a); Fed. R. Civ. P. 55(b)(2). 200 

17. Lawyers shall not use or oppose discovery for the purpose of harassment or to 201 

burden an opponent with increased litigation expense. Lawyers shall not object to 202 

discovery or inappropriately assert a privilege for the purpose of withholding or 203 

delaying the disclosure of relevant and non-protected information. 204 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 3.1; R. Prof. Cond. 3.2; R. Prof. Cond. 3.4; R. Prof. 205 

Cond. 4.1; R. Prof. Cond. 4.4(a); R. Prof. Cond. 8.4; R. Civ. P. 26(b)(1); R. Civ. P. 206 

26(b)(8)(A); R. Civ. P. 37(a)(1)(A), (D); R. Civ. P. 37(c); R. Crim. P. 16(b); R. Crim. P. 207 

16(c); R. Crim. P. 16(d); R. Crim. P. 16(e); R. Juv. P. 20; R. Juv. P. 20A; R. Juv. P. 27(b); 208 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(b)(1); Fed. R. Civ. P. 26(g)(1)(B)(ii), (iii). 209 

18. During depositions lawyers shall not attempt to obstruct the interrogator or 210 

object to questions unless reasonably intended to preserve an objection or protect a 211 

privilege for resolution by the court. "Speaking objections" designed to coach a witness 212 



USB14-301. Amend. Redline Draft: April 28, 2021 

9 
 

are impermissible. During depositions or conferences, lawyers shall engage only in 213 

conduct that would be appropriate in the presence of a judge. 214 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 3.2; R. Prof. Cond. 3.3(a)(1); R. Prof. Cond. 3.4; R. 215 

Prof. Cond. 3.5; R. Prof. Cond. 8.4; R. Civ. P. 30(c)(2); R. Juv. P. 20; R. Juv. P. 20A; Fed. R. 216 

Civ. P. 30(c)(2); Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(d)(2); Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(d)(3)(A. 217 

19. In responding to document requests and interrogatories, lawyers shall not 218 

interpret them in an artificially restrictive manner so as to avoid disclosure of relevant 219 

and non-protected documents or information, nor shall they produce documents in a 220 

manner designed to obscure their source, create confusion, or hide the existence of 221 

particular documents. 222 

Cross-References: R. Prof. Cond. 3.2; R. Prof. Cond. 3.4; R. Prof. Cond. 8.4; R. Prof. 223 

Cond. 3.4; R. Civ. P. 26(b)(1; R. Civ. P. 37; R. Crim. P. 16(a); R. Juv. P. 20; R. Juv. P. 20A; 224 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(a)(4). 225 

20. Lawyers shall not authorize or encourage their clients or anyone under their 226 

direction or supervision to engage in conduct proscribed by these Standards. 227 

Adopted by Supreme Court order October 16, 2003. 228 

  229 

 230 



Tab 3 
 



Rule 8.4. Misconduct. 
 

Colorado Court Rules
 

Colorado Rules of Professional Conduct
 

Maintaining the Integrity of the Profession
 

As amended through Rule Change 2018(6), effective April 12, 2018
 

Rule 8.4. Misconduct 
 
 

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: 

 

Cite as RPC 8.4

History. Committee comment amended October 17, 1996, effective January 1, 1997; entire Appendix repealed and

readopted April 12, 2007, effective January 1, 2008; paragraph (c) amended and Adopted by the Court, En Banc,

September 28, 2017, effective immediately. 

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or induce

another to do so, or do so through the acts of another;

(b) commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness or

fitness as a lawyer in other respects;

(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation, except that a

lawyer may advise, direct, or supervise others, including clients, law enforcement officers,

or investigators, who participate in lawful investigative activities;

(d) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice;

(e) state or imply an ability to influence improperly a government agency or official or to

achieve results by means that violate the Rules of Professional Conduct or other law;

(f) knowingly assist a judge or judicial officer in conduct that is a violation of applicable rules

of judicial conduct or other law;

(g) engage in conduct, in the representation of a client, that exhibits or is intended to appeal

to or engender bias against a person on account of that person's race, gender, religion,

national origin, disability, age, sexual orientation, or socioeconomic status, whether that

conduct is directed to other counsel, court personnel, witnesses, parties, judges, judicial

officers, or any persons involved in the legal process; or

(h) engage in any conduct that directly, intentionally, and wrongfully harms others and that

adversely reflects on a lawyer's fitness to practice law.



Note: 

COMMENT

[1] Lawyers are subject to discipline when they violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, 

knowingly assist or induce another to do so or do so through the acts of another, as when they request or instruct an 

agent to do so on the lawyer's behalf. Paragraph (a), however, does not prohibit a lawyer from advising a client 

concerning action the client is legally entitled to take. 

[2] Many kinds of illegal conduct reflect adversely on fitness to practice law, such as offenses involving fraud and the 

offense of willful failure to file an income tax return. However, some kinds of offenses carry no such implication. 

Traditionally, the distinction was drawn in terms of offenses involving "moral turpitude." That concept can be construed 

to include offenses concerning some matters of personal morality, such as adultery and comparable offenses, that 

have no specific connection to fitness for the practice of law. Although a lawyer is personally answerable to the entire 

criminal law, a lawyer should be professionally answerable only for offenses that indicate lack of those characteristics 

relevant to law practice. Offenses involving violence, dishonesty, breach of trust, or serious interference with the 

administration of justice are in that category. A pattern of repeated offenses, even ones of minor significance when 

considered separately, can indicate indifference to legal obligation. 

[3] A lawyer who, in the course of representing a client, knowingly manifests by word or conduct, bias or prejudice 

based upon race, gender, religion, national origin, disability, age, sexual orientation or socioeconomic status, violates 

paragraph (g) and also may violate paragraph (d). Legitimate advocacy respecting the foregoing factors does not 

violate paragraphs (d) or (g). A trial judge's finding that peremptory challenges were exercised on a discriminatory 

basis does not alone establish a violation of this Rule. 

[4] A lawyer may refuse to comply with an obligation imposed by law upon a good faith belief that no valid obligation 

exists. The provisions of Rule 1.2(d) concerning a good faith challenge to the validity, scope, meaning or application of 

the law apply to challenges of legal regulation of the practice of law. 

[5] Lawyers holding public office assume legal responsibilities going beyond those of other citizens. A lawyer's abuse 

of public office can suggest an inability to fulfill the professional role of lawyers. The same is true of abuse of positions 

of private trust such as trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, agent and officer, director or manager of a 

corporation or other organization. 



DATE FILED: June 7, 2021 
CASE NUMBER: 2020SA81



 

 

 
 

The Supreme Court of the State of Colorado 
2 East 14th Avenue • Denver, Colorado 80203 

2021 CO 44 

Supreme Court Case No. 20SA81 
Original Proceeding in Discipline 

Appeal from the Office of the Presiding Disciplinary Judge, 19PDJ36  
Honorable William R. Lucero, Presiding Disciplinary Judge  

  
In the Matter of Robert E. Abrams 

  
Judgment Affirmed 

en banc 
June 7, 2021  

  
 
Attorneys for Respondent-Appellant: 
Montgomery Little & Soran, PC 
Christopher B. Little  
Robin Jackson 
 Greenwood Village, Colorado 
 
Attorneys for Complainant-Appellee: 
Jessica E. Yates, Attorney Regulation Counsel 
Justin P. Moore, Assistant Regulation Counsel 
David B. Shaw, Assistant Regulation Counsel 
 Denver, Colorado 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
JUSTICE HART delivered the Opinion of the Court.



 

2 

¶1 In an email responding to a client’s question about a recent case 

management conference, attorney Robert Abrams referred to the presiding judge 

as a “gay, fat, fag.”1  A hearing board of the Office of the Presiding Disciplinary 

Judge (“PDJ”) found that Abrams violated Colo. RPC 8.4(g), which prohibits an 

attorney, in the course of representing a client, from referring to an individual 

involved in the legal process with language that exhibits bias or animus on the 

basis of sexual orientation.  Abrams now asks us to overturn the decision of the 

hearing board.  He contends that (1) Rule 8.4(g) violates the First and Fourteenth 

Amendments because it is unconstitutionally overbroad and vague and (2) the 

PDJ improperly limited relevant character testimony during his disciplinary 

hearing.  Because we conclude that Rule 8.4(g) does not violate the U.S. 

Constitution, and that the PDJ’s evidentiary rulings were not an abuse of his 

discretion, we affirm the hearing board’s decision.  

I.  Facts and Procedural History  

¶2 In October 2015, Michelle and Gary Bales hired Abrams to represent them 

in a dispute against Joseph Hewitt, a contractor they hired to build a new garage 

 

 

 
1 We reluctantly reproduce this anti-gay slur here in order to give an accurate and 
uncensored account of the facts. 



 

3 

on their property.  Abrams filed a complaint and jury demand on the couple’s 

behalf in Arapahoe County District Court in December 2015. 

¶3 On March 1, 2016, Abrams and his associate, Nicoli Pento, attended a case 

management conference before the presiding judge.  At the conference, Abrams 

perceived the judge to be very hostile towards him.  In fact, Abrams was so 

concerned by the judge’s attitude that he decided to waive the Bales’ demand for 

a jury trial because he was concerned that the judge would yell at him in front of 

the jury.   

¶4 About a week after the conference, in an email exchange with his clients, 

Abrams explained this decision, as well as allegations made during the conference 

that the Baleses had threatened Hewitt.  The Baleses expressed concern about 

Abrams’s relationship with the presiding judge and asked whether Hewitt 

provided any proof of the alleged threat.  Abrams responded: 

He tried too [sic], but his evidence was irrelevant, therefore 
disregarded by the court, which caused your case to be dismissed.  
While I was getting your case dismissed (Hewitt’s defamation case 
against you) I was getting yelled at by Fatso.  The judge is a gay, fat, 
fag, now it’s out there. 

¶5 The Baleses ultimately prevailed in the litigation, but their relationship with 

Abrams soured over the course of the representation.  In particular, the Baleses 

did not want to pay for the work that Pento had done on their case, having learned 

that he was a Florida attorney without a license to practice law in Colorado.  After 



 

4 

several months of back and forth over the fees, in September 2017, Abrams 

withdrew from the representation and filed suit against the Baleses to recover the 

unpaid attorney fees. 

¶6 In late December 2017, Abrams received a letter from the Office of Attorney 

Regulation Counsel (“OARC”) notifying him that the Baleses filed a request for 

investigation into his billing practices.  After Abrams responded to the request, he 

sent a $897 invoice to the Baleses, purporting to charge them for the time he spent 

responding to OARC.  

¶7 On May 16, 2019, OARC filed a complaint with the PDJ, alleging that 

Abrams violated: (1) Colo. RPC 8.4(g) for describing the presiding judge using an 

anti-gay slur in communication with his clients, (2) Colo. RPC 1.5(a) for charging 

the Baleses for time spent responding to the OARC’s investigation, and (3) Colo. 

RPC 1.4 for failure to communicate certain information to the Baleses.  The PDJ 

granted OARC’s motion for summary judgment with respect to the claim that 

Abrams violated Colo. RPC 1.5(a), citing People v. Brown, 840 P.2d 1085, 1089 

(Colo. 1992) (ruling that an attorney may not charge a client for time spent 

responding to a grievance filed with OARC).  The remaining claims went to a 

hearing. 

¶8 During the hearing, OARC and Abrams consistently disagreed about 

precisely what Rule 8.4(g) defines as misconduct.  Abrams argued that he could 



 

5 

only be found to have violated the Rule if OARC could demonstrate that he had 

an actual bias against homosexual people and that he used the anti-gay slur in his 

email to display that bias.  OARC argued that Rule 8.4(g) does not require proof 

of an attorney’s actual bias because it does not purport to regulate biased thoughts, 

but only to prohibit conduct or language, directed to a specific individual in the 

course of representing a client, that exhibits bias.  The hearing board agreed with 

OARC’s interpretation. 

¶9 As a result of that interpretation, the PDJ made several evidentiary 

determinations that Abrams disagreed with.  First, the PDJ limited testimony from 

a character witness, Steven Prelub.  Abrams wanted Prelub to testify about the 

attorney’s interactions with the Denver gay community in order to demonstrate 

that he did not personally harbor any anti-gay bias.  The PDJ ruled that such 

evidence was irrelevant to the alleged violation of Rule 8.4(g) because the Rule 

“does not regulate bigotry; it regulates behavior.”  People v. Abrams, 459 P.3d 1228, 

1239 (Colo. O.P.D.J. Feb. 12, 2020).  The PDJ accordingly considered Prelub’s 

testimony as to Abrams’s character and reputation only when determining the 

appropriate sanction. 

¶10 The PDJ permitted testimony from Pento, over a relevance objection from 

Abrams, that Abrams regularly referred to the presiding judge using other 

variants of the anti-gay slur he used in the email to the Baleses, and that Abrams 



 

6 

generally demeaned people who disagreed with him.  The PDJ found that the 

testimony was relevant because it shed light on Abrams’s understanding of the 

meaning of the language he used in the email to his clients.    

¶11 The hearing board ultimately found that Abrams’s use of the anti-gay slur 

in his email to the Baleses violated Rule 8.4(g).  For this violation, and the violation 

of Rule 1.5(a), Abrams’s license was suspended for three months, stayed upon the 

successful completion of an eighteen-month probation.2  The hearing board also 

required Abrams to attend ethics school and eight hours of cultural awareness and 

sensitivity training.  

¶12 Abrams filed a notice of appeal with this court pursuant to C.R.C.P. 251.27.  

II.  Standard of Review 

¶13 This court has plenary power “to review any determination made in the 

course of a disciplinary proceeding.”  C.R.C.P 251.1(d).  We will affirm a hearing 

board’s decision unless we determine that its findings of fact are clearly erroneous 

or that the form of discipline imposed is manifestly excessive, bears no relation to 

 

 

 
2 The board concluded that Abrams’s failure to inform his clients that Pento was 
not licensed to practice law in Colorado was not a violation of his obligation under 
Rule 1.4 to communicate with his clients because it was an internal staffing 
decision that he was entitled to make without client consultation. 



 

7 

the complained-of conduct, or is otherwise unreasonable.  C.R.C.P. 251.27(b).  We 

review the hearing board’s conclusions of law de novo.  Id.  

¶14 Hearings before a hearing board are conducted “in conformity with the 

Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure, the Colorado Rules of Evidence, and the 

practice in this state in the trial of civil cases.”  C.R.C.P. 251.18(d).  The PDJ is 

responsible for ruling on all motions in the course of a hearing.  

C.R.C.P. 251.18(b)(2).  We review the PDJ’s evidentiary determinations for an 

abuse of discretion, reversing only when a ruling is based on an erroneous view 

of the law or a clearly erroneous assessment of the evidence.  Murray v. Just in Case 

Bus. Lighthouse, LLC, 2016 CO 47M, ¶ 16, 374 P.3d 443, 450.   

III.  Analysis 

¶15 We first turn to Abrams’s claim that Rule 8.4(g) violates the First 

Amendment.  We conclude that Rule 8.4(g) serves the state’s compelling interests 

in regulating the conduct of attorneys during the representation of their clients, 

protecting clients and other participants in the legal process from harassment and 

discrimination, and eliminating expressions of bias from the legal process.  The 

Rule is sufficiently narrowly tailored to serve these interests while limiting as little 

speech as possible.  Moreover, Rule 8.4(g) is neither overbroad nor 

unconstitutionally vague.  Thus, we conclude that the Rule is constitutional. 



 

8 

¶16 Next, we address whether the PDJ erred in limiting Prelub’s testimony as to 

Abrams’s character or allowing Pento’s testimony as to other instances in which 

Abrams used anti-gay slurs to describe the presiding judge.  We discern no abuse 

of discretion in the PDJ’s evidentiary rulings.  

A.   Constitutional Challenge to Colo. RPC 8.4(g) 

1.  Attorney Regulation and the First Amendment 

¶17 When a disciplinary rule implicates a lawyer’s First Amendment rights, we 

must balance those constitutional rights against the State’s interest in regulating 

the activity in question.  Gentile v. State Bar of Nev., 501 U.S. 1030, 1075 (1991).  “We 

begin with the well-established principle that attorneys are entitled to the same 

level of First Amendment protection as non-attorneys unless a state has a 

compelling interest in regulating some aspect of their speech or conduct.” In re 

Foster, 253 P.3d 1244, 1251–52 (Colo. 2011) (citing NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 

438 (1963)). 

¶18 Lawyer speech that advances client interests, checks governmental power, 

or advocates on matters of public concern is provided the utmost protection under 

the First Amendment.  See, e.g., In re Primus, 436 U.S. 412, 426–29 (1978) (discipline 

of non-profit attorney for soliciting and advising women who were coercively 

sterilized violated the First Amendment); Bates v. State Bar of Ariz., 433 U.S. 350, 

381–82 (1977) (a regulation prohibiting truthful, non-misleading attorney-



 

9 

advertising violated the First Amendment); Button, 371 U.S. at 444 (a regulation 

that barred the NAACP from soliciting clients affected by segregation violated the 

First Amendment).  We must be very skeptical of regulations that curtail such 

speech, “[f]or a State may not, under the guise of prohibiting professional 

misconduct, ignore constitutional rights.”  Button, 371 U.S. at 439; see also In re 

Green, 11 P.3d 1078, 1083 (Colo. 2000) (“[W]e begin with the accepted legal 

principle that if an attorney’s activity or speech is protected by the First 

Amendment, disciplinary rules governing the legal profession cannot punish the 

attorney’s conduct.”). 

¶19 However, this inquiry must be attuned to the vital role that the justice 

system plays in our society and the state’s unique interests in regulating the legal 

profession.  We have previously recognized that the state’s interest “in regulating 

lawyers is especially great since lawyers are essential to the primary governmental 

function of administering justice, and have historically been ‘officers of the 

courts.’”  Green, 11 P.3d at 1086 n.7 (quoting In re Primus, 436 U.S. at 422).  In 

evaluating attorney regulations related to attorney speech, we must engage “in a 

balancing process, weighing the State’s interest in the regulation of a specialized 

profession against a lawyer’s First Amendment interest in the kind of speech that 

[is] at issue.”  Gentile, 501 U.S. at 1073. 



 

10 

¶20 A state’s interest in regulating attorney speech is at its strongest when the 

regulation is necessary to preserve the integrity of the justice system or to protect 

clients.  Moreover, the Supreme Court has explained that “the speech of lawyers 

representing clients in pending cases may be regulated under a less demanding 

standard” because the lawyer in that role is an officer of the court.  Id. at 1074–75 

(holding that extrajudicial speech about a pending case can be punished if it poses 

a substantial likelihood of materially prejudicing an adjudicatory process); see  also 

Ohralik v. Ohio State Bar Ass’n, 436 U.S. 447, 449 (1978) (restriction on in-person 

solicitation of accident victims upheld because such solicitation is inconsistent 

with the ideals of attorney-client relationship and poses significant harm to 

prospective clients); Fla. Bar v. Went for It, Inc., 515 U.S. 618, 635 (1995) (prohibition 

of direct-mail solicitation of accident victims within thirty days of accident upheld, 

in part, because it invaded prospective clients’ privacy and eroded confidence in 

the profession).   

2.  Overbreadth and Vagueness 

¶21 The overbreadth doctrine permits a litigant to bring a facial challenge to a 

law or regulation, arguing that, even if his own speech was not protected by the 

First Amendment, the law could target protected speech.  People v. Graves, 2016 CO 

15, ¶ 12, 368 P.3d 317, 322.  This exception to traditional standing rules has been 



 

11 

recognized as necessary to permit challenges to legal restrictions so broad that they 

might have a chilling effect on protected speech.  Id. at ¶ 13, 368 P.3d at 323.   

¶22 In order to succeed in an overbreadth challenge, a litigant must prove that 

(1) the regulation’s overbreadth is real and substantial in comparison to its 

legitimate reach and (2) there is no adequate limiting construction that sufficiently 

narrows the regulation’s application.  Id. at ¶¶ 14–16, 368 P.3d at 323–24; 

Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 601, 615 (1973).  In making this determination we 

must first construe the regulation in order to assess whether its application 

illegitimately proscribes any protected speech.  Graves, ¶ 15, 368 P.3d at 323–24.  If 

the regulation illegitimately prohibits only a minimal amount of protected speech, 

then the overbreadth challenge fails and “whatever overbreadth may exist should 

be addressed on a case-by-case basis.”  Id. at ¶ 15, 368 P.3d at 324.  Additionally, if 

any potential overbreadth can be cured by a limiting construction or partial 

invalidation, we will apply such a construction or partial invalidation to preserve 

the regulation’s constitutionality. Id. at ¶ 16, 368 P.3d at 324. 

¶23 The constitutional prohibition on state laws or regulations that are unduly 

vague is rooted in the Fourteenth Amendment right to procedural due process.  Id. 

at ¶ 17, 368 P.3d at 324.  Due process requires that individuals have adequate 

notice of prohibited conduct so that they can conform their actions accordingly.  

Id.  A state-imposed sanction violates due process if the underlying law or 



 

12 

regulation “fails to provide a person of ordinary intelligence fair notice of what is 

prohibited, or is so standardless that it authorizes or encourages seriously 

discriminatory enforcement.”  United States v. Williams, 553 U.S. 285, 304 (2008).  A 

heightened vagueness standard applies where the regulation in question threatens 

to inhibit protected speech.  Graves, ¶ 18, 368 P.3d at 324. 

¶24  Because the prohibition against vagueness turns on whether the challenged 

law provides adequate notice, a vagueness challenge fails “where reasonable 

persons would know that their conduct puts them at risk.”  Id. at ¶ 19, 368 P.3d at 

325.  Thus, we evaluate whether a regulation is vague by looking to the 

challenger’s particular conduct and considering whether the regulation provided 

adequate notice that the conduct would constitute a violation.  Id.  We do not 

extend our inquiry into hypothetical applications of the law because “[a] plaintiff 

who engages in some conduct that is clearly proscribed cannot complain of the 

vagueness of the [regulation] as applied to the conduct of others.”  Vill. of Hoffman 

Estates v. Flipside, 455 U.S. 489, 495 (1982).  

3.  Application 

¶25 Applying the frameworks described above to Rule 8.4(g), we must first 

construe the Rule and determine if it impermissibly reaches speech protected by 

the First Amendment.  In construing a Rule of Professional Conduct, we must 

interpret the text according to its generally accepted meaning.  See Colo. RPC 



 

13 

Scope cmt. 21.  The comments accompanying each Rule illustrate the rule’s 

purpose and are intended to help guide interpretation.  Id. 

¶26 Colo. RPC 8.4(g) provides that:  

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to engage in conduct, in the 
representation of a client, that exhibits or is intended to appeal to or 
engender bias against a person on account of that person’s race, 
gender, religion, national origin, disability, age, sexual orientation, or 
socioeconomic status, whether that conduct is directed to other 
counsel, court personnel, witnesses, parties, judges, judicial officers, 
or any persons involved in the legal process.  

We agree with the hearing board’s conclusion that proof of a violation of this Rule 

does not require the People to demonstrate that an attorney actually harbors bias 

against a person on the basis of a protected classification.  The Rule only addresses 

the attorney’s outward behavior; it does not attempt to police whether a lawyer 

privately holds prejudicial beliefs.  As the hearing board correctly concluded, 

“[t]he lawyer discipline system does not regulate bigotry.  It regulates action.”  

Abrams, 459 P.3d at 1244.   

¶27 In regulating attorney conduct, Rule 8.4(g) includes several important 

limiting provisions.  It prohibits only conduct—including speech or expressive 

conduct—that (1) occurs while an attorney is representing a client, (2) exhibits or 

is intended to engender bias against a specific person on account of a protected 

characteristic, and (3) is directed to a person involved in the legal process.  Colo. 



 

14 

RPC 8.4(g).  Finally, as explained in comment 3 to Rule 8.4, “[l]egitimate advocacy 

respecting [a protected characteristic] does not violate” the Rule.   

¶28 Given this construction, we first address Abrams’s claim that Rule 8.4(g) is 

unconstitutionally overbroad.  Although the Rule does prohibit some speech that 

would be constitutionally protected in other contexts, the Rule prohibits such 

speech in furtherance of several compelling state interests.  Further, it is narrowly 

tailored so that any possible unconstitutional reach of Colo. RPC 8.4(g) is neither 

real nor substantial.  The Rule, therefore, does not run afoul of the First 

Amendment.  

¶29 Rule 8.4(g) serves several compelling state interests.  It is well-established 

that the state has a compelling interest in regulating the legal profession both to 

protect the public and to ensure public confidence in the integrity of the system.  

Relatedly, the state has a compelling interest in eliminating expressions of bias 

from the legal profession, to promote public confidence in the system, and to 

ensure effective administration of justice.  This also protects clients and other 

participants in the justice system from discrimination and harassment.  There is no 

question that a lawyer’s use of derogatory or discriminatory language that singles 

out individuals involved in the legal process damages the legal profession and 

erodes confidence in the justice system.    



 

15 

¶30 Further, Rule 8.4(g) is narrowly tailored to serve these interests.  To violate 

the Rule, a lawyer’s speech or actions must (1) occur in the course of representing 

a client, (2) “exhibit[] or . . . intend[] to appeal to or engender bias” against a 

specific person on the basis of an identified protected classification, and (3) be 

directed to a specific person involved in the legal process.  Colo. RPC 8.4(g).  The 

Rule does not extend to any speech that legitimately furthers a client’s interest or 

relates to the advocacy of policy or political goals, no matter how controversial.3  

Further, so long as a lawyer refrains from discriminatory language, Rule 8.4(g) 

does not prohibit the criticism of judicial officers.  See Green, 11 P.3d at 1083–85.  

¶31 The narrow tailoring of Rule 8.4(g) is demonstrated by the limited number 

of times that OARC has charged violations of the Rule since its adoption in 1993.4  

 

 

 
3 Notably, Colorado’s Rule 8.4(g) is significantly narrower than the American Bar 
Association’s Model Rule 8.4(g), which prohibits an attorney from “engag[ing] in 
conduct that the lawyer knows or reasonably should know is harassment or 
discrimination [on the basis of a protected characteristic] in conduct related to the 
practice of law.”  That rule has been the subject of considerable debate.  See Rebecca 
Aviel, Rule 8.4(g) and the First Amendment: Distinguishing Between Discrimination 
and Free Speech, 31 Geo. J. Legal Ethics 31, 34–35 (2018).  The Model Rule does not 
contain the limiting factors that narrow the reach of Colorado’s Rule 8.4(g) to a 
permissible scope.  

4 The language of Colo. RPC 8.4(g) was initially contained in Colo. RPC 1.2(f) 
(1993), but the Colorado Rules of Professional Conduct were amended to conform 
more closely to the ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct in 2008.  See Alec 
Rothrock, ABA Model Rule 8.4(g): Should Discriminatory Conduct or Remarks Outside 
the Representation of a Client have Disciplinary Consequences?, The Docket (Feb. 7, 
 



 

16 

In nearly thirty years, only four other lawyers have been sanctioned for violating 

this Rule, and each of these instances involved conduct like that at issue here.  See, 

e.g., People v. Gilbert, No. 10PDJ067, at 13–16 (Colo. O.P.D.J. Jan. 14, 2011) (lawyer 

sanctioned for referring to the judge as a “c***” while negotiating a plea deal for 

his client); People v. Wareham, No. 17PDJ021, 2017 WL 4173661, at *1  (Colo. O.P.D.J. 

Sept. 13, 2017) (lawyer sanctioned for telling a client’s Black son that he was 

“behaving like some kid out of the ghetto”); People v. Frazier, No. 19PDJ053, 

2019 WL 7604760, at *1 (Colo. O.P.D.J. Dec. 30, 2019) (lawyer sanctioned for calling 

his client’s mother a “c***” in a text message); People v. Malouff, No. 20PDJ055, 

2020 WL 5629838, at *1 (Colo. O.P.D.J. Aug. 25, 2020) (lawyer sanctioned for 

making several overtly sexual comments to a judge, clerk, and judicial assistant).  

Abrams’s use of an anti-gay slur in an email to his clients to describe the presiding 

judge is exactly the type of conduct that Rule 8.4(g) permissibly proscribes.  

Abrams has not identified, nor do we perceive, a broad swath of speech that would 

be impermissibly limited by Rule 8.4(g) such that the Rule risks chilling or 

penalizing protected speech.  Thus, the Rule is not unconstitutionally overbroad.   

 

 

 

2017), http://www.dbadocket.org/ethics/aba-model-rule-8-4g-rothrock/ 
[https://perma.cc/2HVT-NEUZ].    



 

17 

¶32 Abrams’s contention that Rule 8.4(g) is void for vagueness also fails.  

Abrams contends that Rule 8.4(g) is unconstitutionally vague because it does not 

detail what exact words “exhibit[] or . . . intend[] to appeal to or engender bias.”  

We must address his claim in light of the conduct for which he was disciplined.  

Graves, ¶ 19, 368 P.3d at 325.  If a reasonable person of ordinary intelligence would 

find that Abrams’s conduct was clearly proscribed by Rule 8.4(g), then he cannot 

successfully attack the Rule as impermissibly vague.  Id. 

¶33 Any objective person would find that Abrams’s specific use of an anti-gay 

slur in communicating with his clients about the presiding judge violated 

Rule 8.4(g).  The word is pervasively understood as an anti-gay slur.  Because 

Abrams’s conduct is clearly proscribed by Rule 8.4(g), he cannot complain of any 

potential vagueness of the law as it might apply to others, and his claim must fail.  

See Graves, ¶ 19, 368 P.3d at 325. 

¶34 For these reasons, we conclude that Rule 8.4(g) is neither overbroad nor 

vague.  It is a constitutionally permissible regulation of an attorney’s conduct as 

an officer of the court in the representation of a client.  

B.  The PDJ’s Evidentiary Rulings 

¶35 Abrams also contends that the PDJ erred by (1) limiting Prelub’s testimony 

regarding Abrams’s positive interactions with, and opinions about, the gay 

community to be used only for mitigation of the ultimate sanction; and 



 

18 

(2) allowing Pento to testify about other incidents where Abrams referred to the 

presiding judge using anti-gay slurs.  We address and reject each argument in turn.  

¶36 The PDJ did not abuse his discretion when he limited Prelub’s testimony 

involving Abrams’s past interactions with, and opinions about, the gay 

community so that it was only admissible for purposes of mitigating the final 

sanction.  Rule 8.4(g) does not require proof that the lawyer acted in conformity 

with personally held biased beliefs.  Therefore, any evidence relating to Abrams’s 

positive interactions with the gay community and his lack of anti-gay bias is not 

relevant to whether he violated the Rule.   

¶37 The PDJ also did not abuse his discretion when he allowed Pento to testify 

about other incidents where Abrams used anti-gay slurs to refer to the presiding 

judge.  Under CRE 404(b), evidence of past acts may be used to show intent and 

knowledge.  Throughout the hearing, Abrams insisted that he did not use the word 

“fag” in his email as an anti-gay slur, but as a way of describing the judge as weak.  

Pento’s testimony about other incidents in which Abrams described the judge with 

anti-gay slurs was therefore probative of Abrams’s knowledge of the anti-gay 

slur’s derogatory nature when he used it in the email to the Baleses.  The PDJ was 

well within his discretion to make such a finding.  Further, even if the PDJ erred 

in admitting this testimony, the error was harmless.  There was sufficient evidence 



 

19 

for the hearing board to find that Abrams knew or reasonably should have known 

the meaning of the anti-gay slur in the email to his clients.  

¶38 Abrams also contends that he was not provided adequate notice of Pento’s 

testimony and, therefore, that the admission of such testimony violated his right 

to due process under In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. 544, 550–52 (1968).  Due process 

requires that a lawyer accused of violating a rule of professional conduct must be 

provided with the precise nature of the charges against him.  Id.  Abrams was 

charged with violating Rule 8.4(g) solely for his use of the anti-gay slur in an email 

to his clients.  Abrams was provided with ample notice of this charge.  Pento’s 

testimony did not expand the charges against him, rather, it simply provided 

context for that single charge.  Accordingly, Abrams’s right to due process was not 

violated by the admission of Pento’s testimony.  

IV.  Conclusion  

¶39 As the hearing board eloquently explained, “[i]n his private life, [a lawyer] 

is free to speak in whatever manner he chooses.  When representing clients, 

however, [a lawyer] must put aside the schoolyard code of conduct and adhere to 

professional standards.”  Abrams, 459 P.3d at 1241.  The professional standards 

required by Colo. RPC 8.4(g) serve the state’s compelling interests in regulating 

the legal profession, eliminating expressions of bias from the legal process, and 

protecting clients.  The Rule is narrowly tailored to serve those interests and is 



 

20 

neither unconstitutionally vague nor overbroad.  Consequently, we affirm the 

hearing board’s judgment imposing sanctions.  



Rule 8.4. Misconduct, PA ST RPC Rule 8.4

 © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 1

KeyCite Red Flag - Severe Negative Treatment
 Unconstitutional or Preempted Held Unconstitutional by Greenberg v. Haggerty, E.D.Pa., Dec. 08, 2020

Purdon's Pennsylvania Statutes and Consolidated Statutes
Rules of Professional Conduct (Refs & Annos)

Maintaining the Integrity of the Profession

Rules of Prof. Conduct, Rule 8.4, 42 Pa.C.S.A.

Rule 8.4. Misconduct

Effective: December 8, 2020
Currentness

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to:

(a) violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or induce another to do so, or do so through
the acts of another;

(b) commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects;

(c) engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation;

(d) engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice;

(e) state or imply an ability to influence improperly a government agency or official or to achieve results by means that violate
the Rules of Professional Conduct or other law;

(f) knowingly assist a judge or judicial officer in conduct that is a violation of applicable rules of judicial conduct or other law; or

(g) in the practice of law, by words or conduct, knowingly manifest bias or prejudice, or engage in harassment or discrimination,
as those terms are defined in applicable federal, state or local statutes or ordinances, including but not limited to bias, prejudice,
harassment or discrimination based upon race, sex, gender identity or expression, religion, national origin, ethnicity, disability,
age, sexual orientation, marital status, or socioeconomic status. This paragraph does not limit the ability of a lawyer to accept,
decline or withdraw from a representation in accordance with Rule 1.16. This paragraph does not preclude advice or advocacy
consistent with these Rules.

Credits
Adopted Oct. 16, 1987, effective April 1, 1988. Amended Dec. 15, 1994, imd. effective; Aug. 23, 2004, effective Jan. 1, 2005;
June 8, 2020, effective in six months.

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/Flag?documentGuid=Ie433be7039f111eba9c4c2beee9e04d0&transitionType=Document&originationContext=docHeaderFlag&Rank=0&contextData=(sc.Category) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/Ie433be7039f111eba9c4c2beee9e04d0/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=%2FRelatedInfo%2Fv1%2FkcValidity%2Fnav%3FdocGuid%3DN64EC8530AA7111EAA37DBA8B1ECE938D%26midlineIndex%3D1%26warningFlag%3Dnull%26planIcons%3Dnull%26skipOutOfPlan%3Dnull%26category%3DkcValidity&listSource=RelatedInfo&list=Validity&rank=1&docFamilyGuid=Ie521a0e039f111ebafc3a5213f96d30d&ppcid=c066384473374c8aa2036fa0873dbf19&originationContext=validity&transitionType=NegativeTreatmentItem&contextData=%28sc.Category%29&VR=3.0&RS=cblt1.0 
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/StatutesCourtRules/PennsylvaniaStatutesCourtRules?transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)&rs=clbt1.0&vr=3.0
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/StatutesCourtRules/PennsylvaniaStatutesCourtRules?guid=NA1CF7CE04F3D11DA9C5DC44CDCEA6C7D&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)&rs=clbt1.0&vr=3.0
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=l&cite=lk(PASTRPCR)&originatingDoc=N64EC8530AA7111EAA37DBA8B1ECE938D&refType=CM&sourceCite=Rules+of+Prof.+Conduct%2c+Rule+8.4%2c+42+Pa.C.S.A.&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&pubNum=1000775&contextData=(sc.Category)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/StatutesCourtRules/PennsylvaniaStatutesCourtRules?guid=NA7AE05504F3D11DA9C5DC44CDCEA6C7D&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)&rs=clbt1.0&vr=3.0
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000775&cite=PASTRPCR1.16&originatingDoc=N64EC8530AA7111EAA37DBA8B1ECE938D&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)


Rule 8.4. Misconduct, PA ST RPC Rule 8.4

 © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 2

Editors' Notes

EXPLANATORY COMMENT

[1] Lawyers are subject to discipline when they violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct,
knowingly assist or induce another to do so or do so through the acts of another, as when they request or instruct an
agent to do so on the lawyer's behalf. Paragraph (a), however, does not prohibit a lawyer from advising a client of
action the client is lawfully entitled to take.

[2] Many kinds of illegal conduct reflect adversely on fitness to practice law, such as offenses involving fraud and
the offense of willful failure to file an income tax return. However, some kinds of offenses carry no such implication.
Traditionally, the distinction was drawn in terms of offenses involving “moral turpitude.” That concept can be
construed to include offenses concerning some matters of personal morality, such as adultery and comparable offenses,
that have no specific connection to fitness for the practice of law. Although a lawyer is personally answerable to
the entire criminal law, a lawyer should be professionally answerable only for offenses that indicate lack of those
characteristics relevant to law practice. Offenses involving violence, dishonesty, breach of trust, or serious interference
with the administration of justice are in that category. A pattern of repeated offenses, even ones of minor significance
when considered separately, can indicate indifference to legal obligation.

[3] For the purposes of paragraph (g), conduct in the practice of law includes participation in activities that are required
for a lawyer to practice law, including but not limited to continuing legal education seminars, bench bar conferences
and bar association activities where legal education credits are offered.

[4] The substantive law of antidiscrimination and anti-harassment statutes and case law guide application of paragraph
(g) and clarify the scope of the prohibited conduct.

[5] A lawyer may refuse to comply with an obligation imposed by law upon a good faith belief that no valid obligation
exists. The provisions of Rule 1.2(d) concerning a good faith challenge to the validity, scope, meaning or application
of the law apply to challenges of legal regulation of the practice of law.

[6] Lawyers holding public office assume legal responsibilities going beyond those of other citizens. A lawyer's
abuse of public office can suggest an inability to fulfill the professional role of lawyers. The same is true of abuse
of positions of private trust such as trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, agent and officer, director or manager
of a corporation or other organization.

VALIDITY
<For validity of subd. (g) and Comments [3] and [4], see Greenberg v. Haggerty, ___ F.Supp.3d ___, 2020 WL
7227251 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 8, 2020). >

CODE OF PROF. RESP. COMPARISON
With regard to Rule 8.4(a)-(d) DR 1-102(A) provides that “A lawyer shall not:

“(1) Violate a Disciplinary Rule.

“(2) Circumvent a Disciplinary Rule through actions of another.

“(3) Engage in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude.

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000775&cite=PASTRPCR1.2&originatingDoc=N64EC8530AA7111EAA37DBA8B1ECE938D&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2052531910&pubNum=0000999&originatingDoc=N64EC8530AA7111EAA37DBA8B1ECE938D&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2052531910&pubNum=0000999&originatingDoc=N64EC8530AA7111EAA37DBA8B1ECE938D&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Category)


Rule 8.4. Misconduct, PA ST RPC Rule 8.4

 © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 3

“(4) Engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.

“(5) Engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice.

“(6) Engage in any other conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law.”

Rule 8.4(e) is substantially similar to DR 9-101(C).

There is no direct counterpart to Rule 8.4(f) in the Disciplinary Rules of the Code. EC 7-34 states in part that “A
lawyer ... is never justified in making a gift or a loan to a judge, a hearing officer, or an official employee of a
tribunal ....” EC 9-1 states that “A lawyer should promote public confidence in our legal system and in the legal
profession.”

Notes of Decisions (53)

Rules of Prof. Conduct, Rule 8.4, 42 Pa.C.S.A., PA ST RPC Rule 8.4
Current with amendments received through July 1, 2021.

End of Document © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/NotesofDecisions?docGuid=N64EC8530AA7111EAA37DBA8B1ECE938D&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=NotesOfDecision&contextData=(sc.Category)


 1 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 
ZACHARY GREENBERG,   : CIVIL ACTION 

Plaintiff,    :     
       : 

v.      : No. 20-3822 
       : 
JAMES C. HAGGERTY, in his official  : 
capacity as Board Chair of The   : 
Disciplinary Board of the Supreme   : 
Court of Pennsylvania, et al.,   :   
  Defendants.    : 
 

MEMORANDUM 

 This case concerns the constitutionality of the amendments to Pennsylvania 

Rule of Professional Conduct 8.4, which were approved by the Supreme Court of 

Pennsylvania1 and are set to take effect on December 8, 2020.  The amendments 

added paragraph (g) to Rule 8.4 along with two new comments, (3) and (4).  

Plaintiff, Zachary Greenberg, Esquire, a Pennsylvania attorney who gives 

presentations on a variety of controversial legal issues, brings this pre-enforcement 

challenge alleging that these amendments violate the First Amendment because 

they are unconstitutionally vague, overbroad, and consist of viewpoint-based and 

content-based discrimination. 

 
1 Justice Mundy dissented. 



 2 

 Before the Court are Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint 

(ECF No. 15) and Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction (ECF No. 16).   

A. BACKGROUND 

Plaintiff Zachary Greenberg graduated from law school in 2016 and was 

admitted to the Pennsylvania Bar in May 2019.  ECF No. 1 at ¶ 10, 11; ECF No. 

21 at ¶¶ 2-4.2  Plaintiff currently works as a Program Officer at the Foundation for 

Individual Rights in Education.  ECF No. 1 at ¶ 13; ECF No. 21 at ¶ 6.  In this 

position, Plaintiff speaks and writes on a number of topics, including freedom of 

speech, freedom of association, due process, legal equality, and religious liberty.  

ECF No. 1 at ¶ 14; ECF No. 21 at ¶ 7.  Plaintiff is also a member of the First 

Amendment Lawyers Association, which regularly conducts continuing legal 

education (“CLE”) events for its members.  ECF No. 1 at ¶ 15; ECF No. 21 at ¶¶ 

8-9.   As a part of his association with the Foundation for Individual Rights in 

Education and the First Amendment Lawyers Association, Plaintiff speaks at a 

number of CLE and non-CLE events on a variety of controversial issues.  ECF No. 

1 at ¶ 16-19; ECF No. 21 at ¶ 10.  Specifically, Plaintiff has written and spoken 

against banning hate speech on university campuses and university regulation of 

 
2 The facts included here were alleged in the Complaint (ECF No. 1) and also stipulated in the 
Stipulated List of Facts for Purposes of Preliminary Injunction Motion (ECF No. 21).  Although 
the Court considered all allegations in the Complaint for purposes of Defendants’ Motion to 
Dismiss and all stipulated facts for purposes of Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction, the 
Court found these facts pertinent to its analysis and conclusion.  



 3 

hateful online expression as protected by the First Amendment.  ECF No. 1 at ¶¶ 

19-20; ECF No. 21 at ¶¶ 14-15.   

In 2016, the Disciplinary Board of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania 

considered adopting a version of the American Bar Association Model Rule of 

Professional Conduct 8.4(g) in Pennsylvania. ECF No. 1 at ¶¶ 38-39; ECF No. 21 

at ¶ 56.  After an iterative process of notice and comment between December 2016 

and June 2020, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania approved the recommendation 

of the Board3 and ordered that Pennsylvania Rule of Professional Conduct 

(“Pa.R.P.C.”) 8.4 be amended to include the new Rule 8.4(g) (the “Rule”) along 

with two new comments, (3) and (4), (together, the “Amendments”).  ECF No. 1 at 

¶ 40; ECF No. 21 at ¶ 61.   

The Amendments state: 

It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to: 
* * * 
(g) in the practice of law, by words or conduct, knowingly manifest bias 
or prejudice, or engage in harassment or discrimination, as those terms 
are defined in applicable federal, state or local statutes or ordinances, 
including but not limited to bias, prejudice, harassment or 
discrimination based upon race, sex, gender identity or expression, 
religion, national origin, ethnicity, disability, age, sexual orientation, 
marital status, or socioeconomic status. This paragraph does not limit 
the ability of a lawyer to accept, decline or withdraw from a 
representation in accordance with Rule 1.16. This paragraph does not 
preclude advice or advocacy consistent with these Rules. 

 
3 Justice Mundy dissented.  ECF No. 1 at ¶ 40. 



 4 

 
Comment: 
 
* * * 
 
[3] For the purposes of paragraph (g), conduct in the practice of law 
includes participation in activities that are required for a lawyer to 
practice law, including but not limited to continuing legal education 
seminars, bench bar conferences and bar association activities where 
legal education credits are offered. 
 
[4] The substantive law of antidiscrimination and anti-harassment 
statutes and case law guide application of paragraph (g) and clarify the 
scope of the prohibited conduct. 
 
ECF No. 1 at ¶ 40 (quoting Pa.R.P.C. 8.4); ECF No. 21 at ¶¶ 62-64 
(quoting Pa.R.P.C. 8.4). 
 

 The Amendments take effect on December 8, 2020. ECF No. 1 at ¶ 41; ECF 

No. 21 at ¶ 61.   

 In terms of enforcement, the Office of Disciplinary Counsel (“ODC”) is 

charged with investigating complaints against Pennsylvania-licensed attorneys for 

violation of the Pennsylvania Rules of Professional Conduct and, if necessary, 

charging and prosecuting attorneys under the Pennsylvania Rules of Disciplinary 

Enforcement.  ECF No. 1 at ¶ 45; ECF No. 21 at ¶ 32.  First, a complaint is 

submitted to the ODC alleging an attorney violated the Pennsylvania Rules of 

Professional Conduct.  ECF No. 1 at ¶¶ 46-47; ECF No. 21 at ¶ 36.  The ODC then 

conducts an investigation into the complaint and decides whether to issue a DB-7 

letter.  ECF No. 1 at ¶¶ 51-52; ECF No. 21 at ¶¶ 36-38.  If the ODC issues a DB-7 



 5 

letter, the attorney has thirty days to respond to that letter.  Id.   If, after 

investigation and a DB-7 letter response, the ODC determines that a form of 

discipline is appropriate, the ODC recommends either private discipline, public 

reprimand, or the filing of a petition for discipline to the Board.  ECF No. 1 at ¶¶ 

55-57; ECF No. 21 at ¶¶ 44-45.  After further rounds of review and 

recommendation, along with additional steps, the case may proceed to a hearing 

before a hearing committee and de novo review by the Disciplinary Board and the 

Supreme Court of Pennsylvania. ECF No. 1 at ¶¶ 54-59; ECF No. 21 at ¶¶ 46-50.4 

 Plaintiff filed a complaint in this Court alleging the Amendments consist of 

content-based and viewpoint-based discrimination and are overbroad in violation 

of the First Amendment (Count 1) and the Amendments are unconstitutionally 

vague in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment (Count 2).  ECF No. 1.5  

Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss (ECF No. 15), and Plaintiff filed a response 

in opposition (ECF No. 25).  Plaintiff filed a Motion for Preliminary Injunction 

(ECF No. 16), and Defendants filed a response in opposition (ECF No. 24).  The 

 
4 The Complaint (ECF No. 1) and the Stipulated List of Facts for Purposes of Preliminary 
Injunction Motion (ECF No. 21) contain different information regarding the process for a 
disciplinary action, but the discrepant facts are irrelevant to the Court’s analysis of both 
Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction.   
5 All Defendants are sued in their official capacities only.  ECF No. 1 at 3.  “State officers sued 
for damages in their official capacity are not ‘persons’ for purposes of the suit because they 
assume the identity of the government that employs them.”  Hafer v. Melo, 502 U.S. 21, 27 
(1991).  In this case, Defendants are members of either the Disciplinary Board of the Supreme 
Court of Pennsylvania or the Office of Disciplinary Counsel.  ECF No. 1 at 3. 



 6 

Court held oral argument on November 13, 2020, addressing both Defendants’ 

Motion to Dismiss and Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction.  ECF No. 26. 

B. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Before the Court are Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss the Complaint (ECF 

No. 15) and Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction (ECF No. 16). 

I. Standard of Review for Motion to Dismiss 

When reviewing a motion to dismiss, the Court “accept[s] as true all 

allegations in plaintiff’s complaint as well as all reasonable inferences that can be 

drawn from them, and [the court] construes them in a light most favorable to the 

non-movant.”  Tatis v. Allied Interstate, LLC, 882 F.3d 422, 426 (3d Cir. 2018) 

(quoting Sheridan v. NGK Metals Corp., 609 F.3d 239, 262 n.27 (3d Cir. 2010)). 

“To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual 

matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.’”  

Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quoting Bell Atlantic Corp. v. 

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)).  “A claim has facial plausibility when the 

plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable 

inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”  Id. (quoting 

Twombly, 550 U.S. at 557)).  “The plausibility determination is ‘a context-specific 

task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial experience and 



 7 

common sense.’”  Connelly v. Lane Const. Corp., 809 F.3d 780, 786-87 (3d Cir. 

2016) (quoting Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 679).   

Finally, courts reviewing the sufficiency of a complaint must engage in a 

three-step process.  First, the court “must ‘take note of the elements [the] plaintiff 

must plead to state a claim.’”  Id. at 787 (alterations in original) (quoting Iqbal, 

556 U.S. at 675).  “Second, [the court] should identify allegations that, ‘because 

they are no more than conclusions, are not entitled to the assumption of truth.’”  Id. 

(quoting Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 679).  Third, ‘“[w]hen there are well-pleaded factual 

allegations, [the] court should assume their veracity and then determine whether 

they plausibly give rise to an entitlement to relief.’”  Id. (alterations in original) 

(quoting Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 679). 

II. Standard of Review for Preliminary Injunction 

“A preliminary injunction is an extraordinary remedy never awarded as of 

right.”  Groupe SEB USA, Inc. v. Euro-Pro Operating LLC, 774 F.3d 192, 197 (3d 

Cir. 2014) (quoting Winter v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 555 U.S. 7, 24 

(2008)).  “Awarding preliminary relief, therefore, is only appropriate ‘upon a clear 

showing that the plaintiff is entitled to such relief.’”  Id. (quoting Winter, 555 U.S. 

at 22). 



 8 

In order to “obtain a preliminary injunction the moving party must show as a 

prerequisite (1) a reasonable probability of eventual success in the litigation, and 

(2) that it will be irreparably injured . . . if relief is not granted . . . . [In addition,] 

the district court, in considering whether to grant a preliminary injunction, should 

take into account, when they are relevant, (3) the possibility of harm to other 

interested persons from the grant or denial of the injunction, and (4) the public 

interest.”  Reilly v. City of Harrisburg, 858 F.3d 173, 176 (3d Cir. 2017), as 

amended (June 26, 2017) (quoting Del. River Port Auth. v. Transamerican Trailer 

Transport, Inc., 501 F.2d 917, 919–20 (3d Cir. 1974)) (alteration in original).   

The Third Circuit has held that the first two factors act as “gateway factors,” 

and that a “court must first determine whether the movant has met these two 

gateway factors before considering the remaining two factors—balance of harms, 

and public interest.”  Fulton v. City of Philadelphia, 320 F. Supp. 3d 661, 675 

(E.D. Pa. 2018), aff’d, 922 F.3d 140 (3d Cir. 2019) (citing Reilly, 858 F.3d at 180).  

However, “[b]ecause this action involves the alleged suppression of speech in 

violation of the First Amendment, we focus our attention on the first factor, i.e., 

whether [Plaintiff] is likely to succeed on the merits of his constitutional claim.” 

Stilp v. Contino, 613 F.3d 405, 409 (3d Cir. 2010) (citing Elrod v. Burns, 427 U.S. 

347, 373 (1976) (“The loss of First Amendment freedoms, for even minimal 

periods of time, unquestionably constitutes irreparable injury.”)).   



 9 

C. DISCUSSION 

I. Standing 

Defendants move to dismiss the Complaint contending that Plaintiff lacks 

standing to bring this pre-enforcement challenge to the Amendments.  ECF No. 15 

at 10-16. 

“To establish Article III standing, a plaintiff must show (1) an ‘injury in 

fact,’ (2) a sufficient “causal connection between the injury and the conduct 

complained of,” and (3) a ‘likel[ihood]’ that the injury ‘will be redressed by a 

favorable decision.’”  Susan B. Anthony List v. Driehaus, 573 U.S. 149, 157–58 

(2014) [hereinafter SBA List] (quoting Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 

555, 560 (1992)).  “An injury sufficient to satisfy Article III must be ‘concrete and 

particularized’ and ‘actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical.’”  Id. at 

158 (quoting Lujan, 504 U.S. at 560) (internal citations omitted).   

“An allegation of future injury may suffice if the threatened injury is 

‘certainly impending,’ or there is a ‘substantial risk that the harm will occur.’”  Id. 

(quoting Clapper v. Amnesty Intern. USA, 568 U.S. 398, 437 (2014)) (internal 

quotation marks omitted).  “The party invoking federal jurisdiction bears the 

burden of establishing standing.”  Id. (quoting Clapper, 568 U.S. at 411) (internal 

quotation marks omitted).  “[E]ach element must be supported in the same way as 

any other matter on which the plaintiff bears the burden of proof, i.e., with the 



 10 

manner and degree of evidence required at the successive stages of the litigation.”  

Id. (quoting Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561) (alteration in original). 

Here, the Court must determine if “the threatened enforcement of” the 

Amendments “creates an Article III injury.”  Id.  “When an individual is subject to 

such a threat, an actual arrest, prosecution, or other enforcement action is not a 

prerequisite to challenging the law.”  Id. (citing Steffel v. Thompson, 415 U.S. 452, 

459 (1974)) (additional citations omitted).  The Supreme Court has “permitted pre-

enforcement review under circumstances that render the threatened enforcement 

sufficiently imminent.”  Id.  “Specifically, [the Supreme Court] ha[s] held that a 

plaintiff satisfies the injury-in-fact requirement where he alleges ‘an intention to 

engage in a course of conduct arguably affected with a constitutional interest, but 

proscribed by a statute, and there exists a credible threat of prosecution 

thereunder.’” Id. at 159 (quoting Babbitt v. Farm Workers, 442 U.S. 289, 298 

(1979)).   

Many circuit courts have found a plaintiff’s allegation that the law has or 

will have a chilling effect on the plaintiff’s speech is sufficient to satisfy the injury-

in-fact requirement.  The Third Circuit held that “an allegation that certain conduct 

has (or will have) a chilling effect on one’s speech must claim a ‘specific present 

objective harm or a threat of specific future harm.’”  Sherwin-Williams Co. v. Cty. 

of Delaware, Pennsylvania, 968 F.3d 264, 269–70 (3d Cir. 2020) (quoting Laird v. 



 11 

Tatum, 408 U.S. 1, 13–14 (1972)).  The Fifth Circuit “has repeatedly held, in the 

pre-enforcement context, that ‘[c]hilling a plaintiff’s speech is a constitutional 

harm adequate to satisfy the injury-in-fact requirement.’”  Speech First, Inc. v. 

Fenves, 979 F.3d 319, 330-331 (5th Cir. Oct. 28, 2020), as revised (Oct. 30, 2020) 

(quoting Houston Chronicle v. City of League City, 488 F.3d 613, 618 (5th Cir. 

2007)) (alteration in original) (additional citations omitted).  Similarly, the Ninth 

Circuit has held that “[a] chilling of First Amendment rights can constitute a 

cognizable injury, so long as the chilling effect is not ‘based on a fear of future 

injury that itself [is] too speculative to confer standing.’”  Index Newspapers LLC 

v. United States Marshals Serv., 977 F.3d 817, 826 (9th Cir. 2020) (quoting Munns 

v. Kerry, 782 F.3d 402, 410 (9th Cir. 2015)) (additional citations omitted).  The 

Seventh Circuit has held “a plaintiff may show a chilling effect on his speech that 

is objectively reasonable, and that he self-censors as a result.”  Speech First, Inc. v. 

Killeen, 968 F.3d 628, 638 (7th Cir. 2020), as amended on denial of reh’g and 

reh’g en banc (Sept. 4, 2020) [hereinafter Killeen] (citations omitted). 

In terms of Plaintiff’s injury-in-fact, Plaintiff alleges in the Complaint that 

the “vast majority of topics” discussed at Plaintiff’s speaking events “are 

considered biased, prejudiced, offensive, and hateful by some members of his 



 12 

audience, and some members of society at large.”  ECF No. 1 at ¶ 61.6  Plaintiff 

further alleges that “during his presentations,” Plaintiff’s “discussion of hateful 

speech protected by the First Amendment involves a detailed summation of the law 

in this area, which includes a walkthrough of prominent, precedential First 

Amendment cases addressing incendiary speech.”  Id. at ¶ 62.  

Plaintiff alleges that “it would be nearly impossible to illustrate United 

States First Amendment jurisprudence, such as by accurately citing and quoting 

precedent First Amendment cases, without engaging in speech that at least some 

members of his audience will perceive as biased, prejudiced, offensive, and 

potentially hateful.”  Id. at  ¶ 63.  Plaintiff alleges that he believes that “every one 

of his speaking engagements on First Amendment issues carries the risk that an 

audience member will file a bar disciplinary complaint against him based on the 

content of his presentation under rule 8.4(g).”  Id. at ¶ 64.  Plaintiff alleges that he 

fears “his writings and speeches could be misconstrued by readers and listeners, 

and state officials within the Board or Office, as violating Rule 8.4(g).”  Id. at ¶ 72.  

Plaintiff alleges that he does not want to be subjected to disciplinary sanctions by 

the ODC or the Disciplinary Board and that a disciplinary investigation would 

harm his “professional reputation, available job opportunities, and speaking 

 
6 As the Court is determining whether to grant or deny Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss the 
Complaint for lack of standing, the Court considers those allegations related to standing in the 
Complaint (ECF No. 1).   



 13 

opportunities.”  Id. at ¶ 69.  Plaintiff alleges that he will be “forced to censor 

himself to steer clear of an ultimately unknown line so that his speech is not at risk 

of being incorrectly perceived as manifesting bias or prejudice.”  Id. at ¶ 75.   

Defendants contend that Plaintiff lacks standing because Plaintiff’s injury 

“depends on an ‘indefinite risk of future harms inflicted by unknown third 

parties.’”  ECF No. 15 at 11-12 (quoting Reilly v. Ceridian Corp., 664 F.3d 38, 42 

(3d Cir. 2011)) (citing Clapper, 568 U.S. at 414 (“We decline to abandon our usual 

reluctance to endorse standing theories that rest on speculation about the decisions 

of independent actors.”)).  Defendants contend that Plaintiff speculates an audience 

member will be offended by his presentation, then further speculates that that 

audience member will file a disciplinary complaint against Plaintiff, and then 

finally speculates that the ODC will not dismiss the complaint as frivolous but will 

require Plaintiff to file an official response and thereafter move to bring charges.  

Id. at 12.   

Defendants further contend that Plaintiff lacks standing because there is no 

credible threat of enforcement.  Id.  First, Defendants note that there is no history 

of past enforcement, as the Amendments have not yet gone into effect, and 

Plaintiff failed to point to any attorneys anywhere who were charged with violating 

a similar provision.  Id. at 13.   



 14 

Next, Defendants note that the ODC has not “issued warning letters, 

opinions, or provided any other reason to believe that Plaintiff would be charged 

with violating the Amendments based on the conduct he wants to engage in.”  Id.  

Finally, Defendants contend that even if the ODC received a complaint, it is 

speculative whether Plaintiff would ever be notified, and further speculative 

whether Plaintiff would be required to respond or be charged with a violation.  Id. 

at 14.  Defendants reiterate that even if an audience member is offended by 

Plaintiff’s presentation and makes a complaint to the ODC, “complainants do not 

institute disciplinary charges against an attorney: only ODC has that power – and 

only after approval by a Disciplinary Board hearing committee member.”  Id.   

Finally, Defendants contend that the conduct in which Plaintiff wants to 

engage, providing a detailed summation of the law regarding hateful speech, is not 

proscribed by the plain language of the Amendments.  Id. at 15.  As the 

Amendments require that the Plaintiff knowingly manifest bias or prejudice or 

knowingly engage in discrimination or harassment, Defendants contend that it 

“strains credulity” to believe that citing and quoting cases could lead to 

disciplinary action.  Id.  Furthermore, if Plaintiff intends to advocate that certain 

cases were wrongly decided or advance a different interpretation of the law, 

Defendants note that Rule 8.4(g) provides a safe harbor for advocacy and advice.  

Id.   



 15 

Plaintiff responds that the Amendments arguably proscribe Plaintiff’s 

alleged speech and that there is a credible threat of enforcement.  ECF No. 25 at 

11.  Plaintiff also contends that the Amendments would create an “objectively 

reasonable chill to [Plaintiff’s] protected speech.”  Id. at 12. 

First, Plaintiff contends that he plans to continue speaking at CLE events on 

controversial and polarizing issues such as hate speech, regulation on college 

campuses or online, due process requirements for students accused of sexual 

misconduct, and campaign finance restrictions on monetary political contributions.  

Id.  Plaintiff notes that his presentations include summarizing and using language 

from a number of cases that has in the past offended, and will continue to offend, 

audience members.  Id. at 12.  Plaintiff notes that Rule 8.4(g) proscribes words or 

conduct manifesting bias or prejudice at CLE seminars and that the Complaint 

contains many examples of people labeling speakers as biased and prejudiced “for 

taking policy positions, for discussing statistics or academic theories, for espousing 

legal views, or mentioning certain epithets as part of an academic discussion.”  Id.  

Plaintiff further contends that although Rule 8.4(g) requires the 

manifestation of bias or prejudice to be “knowing[],” the ultimate decision of 

whether to file and bring a disciplinary action against Plaintiff “turn[s] on the 

reaction of the listener and judgment of those who administer the Rule.”  Id. at 13.  



 16 

Therefore, Plaintiff contends his lack of intention to manifest bias or prejudice 

does not undercut his standing to challenge Rule 8.4(g).  Id. 

Additionally, although Rule 8.4(g) “does not preclude advice or advocacy 

consistent with these Rules,” Plaintiff contends that “‘advocacy’ in this context 

refers to the only sort of advocacy contemplated by rules of professional conduct: 

the zealous advocacy in support of a client’s interest.”  Id. (citing Pa.R.P.C. 

Preamble (“As advocate, a lawyer zealously asserts the client’s position under the 

rules of the adversary system); Pa.R.P.C. 1.3, cmt. 1 (“A lawyer must also act with 

commitment and dedication to the interests of the client and with zeal in advocacy 

upon the client’s behalf”)).  Therefore, Plaintiff contends that “[a]cademic 

advocacy” at CLE events is not covered within the advocacy or advice safe harbor.  

Id. at 14.   

 Furthermore, Plaintiff contends that his intention to mention epithets, slurs,  

and demeaning nicknames during his presentations and in the question-and-answer 

portion of his presentation is arguably proscribed under Rule 8.4(g).  Id.   Although 

Rule 8.4(g) does not provide examples of “manifestations of bias or prejudice,” 

Plaintiff notes that the language of Rule 8.4(g) regarding “manifest[ing] bias or 

prejudice” was borrowed from Rule 2.3 of the Pennsylvania Code of Judicial 

Conduct.  Id.  Comment 2 to Rule 2.3 of the Pennsylvania Code of Judicial 

Conduct states that examples of manifestations of bias and prejudice “include but 



 17 

are not limited to epithets; slurs; demeaning nicknames; negative stereotyping; 

attempted humor based upon stereotypes; threatening, intimidating, or hostile acts; 

suggestions of connections between race, ethnicity, or nationality and crime; and 

irrelevant references to personal characteristics.”  Id. (quoting Pa.C.J.C. Rule 2.3, 

cmt. 2).   Plaintiff reiterates that he alleged in the Complaint that he mentions slurs, 

epithets, and demeaning nicknames during his presentations.  Id.  Plaintiff 

contends that he also exchanges ideas with audience members about the 

importance of affording Due Process and First Amendment rights to people who 

do and say “odious” things.  Id.  Plaintiff is concerned that people might construe 

his theories as manifesting bias or prejudice against those protected classes, akin to 

“suggestions of connections between race, ethnicity, or nationality and crime.”  Id. 

(quoting Pa.C.J.C. Rule 2.3). 

 Next, Plaintiff contends that there is a credible threat of enforcement.  Id.  

Although Defendants point out that no one has filed a disciplinary complaint 

against Plaintiff based on his past presentations, Plaintiff retorts that such a 

showing is not required for standing and Rule 8.4(g) is not yet in effect.  Id.  

“When dealing with pre-enforcement challenges to recently enacted (or, at least, 

non-moribund) statutes that facially restrict expressive activity by the class to 

which the plaintiff belongs, courts will assume a credible threat of prosecution in 

the absence of compelling contrary evidence.”  Id. (quoting ACLU v. Reno, 31 F. 



 18 

Supp. 2d 473, 479 (E.D. Pa. 1999), eventually rev’d on other grounds sub. nom. 

Ashcroft v. ACLU, 535 U.S. 564 (2002)). 

Plaintiff further contends that no Defendants have “declare[d] or present[d] 

other evidence that they would find this type of 8.4(g) complaint to be frivolous, 

let alone disavow[ed] their authority to take any enforcement steps in response to 

such complaints.”  Id. at 18 (collecting cases).  Even if Defendants were to submit 

such evidence, Plaintiff maintains that the Complaint contains numerous examples 

of individuals who have imputed bias and bigotry to speakers advancing legal 

views or mentioning incendiary words, which shows that a disciplinary complaint 

for this reason would not be considered “frivolous.”  Id.   

The Court finds that Plaintiff has standing to bring this pre-enforcement 

challenge to the Amendments.  First, the Court finds Plaintiff’s allegation that his 

speech will be chilled by the Amendments shows a “threat of specific future 

harm.”  Sherwin-Williams, 968 F.3d at 269–70 (quoting Laird, 408 U.S. at 13–14); 

see also Speech First, 979 F.3d 319, 330-331.  Plaintiff’s alleged fear of a 

disciplinary complaint and investigation is objectively reasonable based on 

Plaintiff’s allegation that the “vast majority of topics” discussed at Plaintiff’s 

speaking events “are considered biased, prejudiced, offensive, and hateful by some 

members of his audience, and some members of society at large.”  ECF No. 1 at ¶ 

61.   



 19 

Furthermore, Plaintiff alleged specific examples of individuals filing 

disciplinary and Title IX complaints against speakers who were presenting on 

similar topics as those discussed by Plaintiff, which he alleges will “force[ him] to 

censor himself to steer clear of an ultimately unknown line so that his speech is not 

at risk of being incorrectly perceived as manifesting bias or prejudice.”  ECF No. 1 

at ¶ 75.  Therefore, in addition to showing that the “chilling effect on his speech . . 

. is objectively reasonable,” Plaintiff has shown that he will “self-censor[] as a 

result.”  Killeen, 968 F.3d at 638.   

The Court concludes that Plaintiff’s alleged chilling effect constitutes an 

injury in fact that is concrete, particularized, and imminent.  SBA List, 573 U.S. at 

158.  Plaintiff’s allegations of future injury suffice because Plaintiff has shown that 

“the threatened injury is ‘certainly impending,’” and that “there is a ‘substantial 

risk’ that the harm will occur.’”  Id. (quoting Clapper, 568 U.S. at 437) (internal 

citations omitted).   

Plaintiff has further shown that he has “an intention to engage in a course of 

conduct arguably affected with a constitutional interest, but proscribed by a statute, 

and there exists a credible threat of prosecution thereunder.”  SBA List, 573 U.S. at 

157–58 (quoting Babbitt, 442 U.S. at 298).  First, neither party challenges that the 

speech in which Plaintiff intends to engage is affected with a constitutional 

interest.  See generally ECF No. 15; ECF No. 25 at 11.   



 20 

Second, Plaintiff has also clearly shown a likelihood that the activity in 

which he intends to engage is “arguably proscribed” by the Amendments.  Speech 

First, Inc., 979 F.3d at 332.  Plaintiff has alleged that he intends to mention 

epithets, slurs, and demeaning nicknames as part of his presentation on First 

Amendment and Due Process rights.  ECF No. 1 at ¶¶ 62-63.  Rule 8.4(g) 

explicitly states that it is attorney misconduct to, “by words or conduct, knowingly 

manifest bias or prejudice.”  Pa.R.P.C. 8.4(g) (emphasis added).  Both parties agree 

that the language used in Rule 8.4(g) mirrors Pennsylvania Code of Judicial 

Conduct Rule 2.3, which provides, in Comment 2, that “manifestations of bias 

include . . . epithets; slurs; demeaning nicknames; negative stereotyping . . . .”  

Plaintiff has shown that by repeating slurs or epithets, or by engaging in discussion 

with his audience members about the constitutional rights of those who do and say 

offensive things, he will need to repeat slurs, epithets, and demeaning nicknames.  

This is arguably proscribed by Rule 8.4(g).   

Defendants contend that because Rule 8.4(g) requires an attorney to 

“knowingly manifest bias or prejudice,” it “strains credulity” to believe that citing 

and quoting cases could lead to disciplinary action.  ECF No. 15 at 15 (emphasis 

added).  However, since the Court has found that repeating slurs or epithets is 

arguably proscribed by the statute based on the plain language, whether Plaintiff 

“knowingly” repeated slurs or epithets is immaterial. 



 21 

Defendants further contend that, “to the extent that Plaintiff intends to 

advocate that certain cases were wrongly decided or advanced a different 

interpretation of relevant law,” Rule 8.4(g)’s “clear safe harbor for advocacy” 

would protect Plaintiff.  Id. at 16.  However, the “advice or advocacy” safe harbor 

was plainly intended to protect those giving advice or advocacy in the context of 

representing a client, and not in the context of Plaintiff’s intended activity.  

Therefore, Plaintiff has shown that his intended conduct is arguably proscribed by 

the Amendments. 

Third, Plaintiff has shown that there exists a credible threat of prosecution.  

Defendants’ contention that Plaintiff’s injury “depends on an ‘indefinite risk of 

future harms inflicted by unknown third parties’” is not persuasive.  Id. at 11-12 

(quoting Ceridian, 664 F.3d at 42) (additional citations omitted).  Plaintiff alleged 

specific examples of individuals filing disciplinary and Title IX complaints against 

speakers who were presenting on similar topics as those discussed by Plaintiff.  

ECF No. 1 at ¶¶ 73, 74.  Not every complaint filed with the ODC results in a letter 

to the accused attorney, nor every letter to the accused attorney results in any 

formal sanction.  However, Plaintiff has demonstrated that there is a substantial 

risk that the Amendments will result in Plaintiff being subjected to a disciplinary 

complaint or investigation. 



 22 

Ultimately, the Court is swayed by the chilling effect that the Amendments 

will have on Plaintiff, and other Pennsylvania attorneys, if they go into effect.  

Rule 8.4(g)’s language, “by words . . . manifest bias or prejudice,” are a palpable 

presence in the Amendments and will hang over Pennsylvania attorneys like the 

sword of Damocles.  This language will continuously threaten the speaker to self-

censor and constantly mind what the speaker says and how the speaker says it or 

the full apparatus and resources of the Commonwealth may be engaged to come 

swooping in to conduct an investigation.  Defendants dismiss these concerns with a 

paternal pat on the head and suggest that the genesis of the disciplinary process is 

benign and mostly dismissive.  Defendants further argue that, under the language 

of Rule 8.4(g) targeting “words,” even if a complaint develops past the initial 

disciplinary complaint stage, actual discipline will not occur given the conduct 

targeted, good intentions of the Rule and those trusted arbiters that will sit in 

judgment and apply it as such.  But Defendants do not guarantee that, nor did they 

remove the language specifically targeting attorneys’ “words.”  Defendants 

effectively ask Plaintiff to trust them not to regulate and discipline his offensive 

speech even though they have given themselves the authority to do so.  So, despite 

asking Plaintiff to trust them, there remains the constant threat that the Rule will be 

engaged as the plain language of it says it will be engaged.     



 23 

It can hardly be doubted there will be those offended by the speech, or the 

written materials accompanying the speech, that manifests bias or prejudice who 

will, quite reasonably, insist that the Disciplinary Board perform its sworn duty 

and apply Rule 8.4(g) in just the way the clear language of the Rule permits.  Even 

if the disciplinary process does not end in some form of discipline, the threat of a 

disruptive, intrusive, and expensive investigation and investigatory hearing into the 

Plaintiff’s words, speeches, notes, written materials, videos, mannerisms, and 

practice of law would cause Plaintiff and any attorney to be fearful of what he or 

she says and how he or she will say it in any forum, private or public, that directly 

or tangentially touches upon the practice of law, including at speaking 

engagements given during CLEs, bench-bar conferences, or indeed at any of the 

social gatherings forming around these activities. The government, as a result, de 

facto regulates speech by threat, thereby chilling speech.  Defendants’ attempt to 

sidestep a direct constitutional challenge by claiming no final discipline will ever 

be rendered under Rule 8.4(g) fails.  The clear threat to Plaintiff’s First 

Amendment rights and the chilling effect that results is the harm that gives Plaintiff 

standing.  Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss the Complaint for lack of standing is 

denied. 



 24 

II. First Amendment Violation 

In their Motion to Dismiss, Defendants contend that Plaintiff’s claim that the 

Amendments constitute either content-based or viewpoint-based discrimination 

fails to state a claim because the Amendments regulate conduct, not speech.  ECF 

No. 15 at 30.  Even if the Amendments regulate speech, Defendants contend, the 

Amendments are narrowly tailored to achieve Pennsylvania’s compelling interest 

in regulating the practice of law and ensuring that the judicial system is free from 

discriminatory and harassing conduct.  Id.   

Defendants further contend that the Amendments are not viewpoint-based 

since they were not enacted based on particular views but rather to prohibit 

discrimination and harassment.  Id. at 30 (citing Wandering Dago, Inc. v. Destito, 

879 F.3d 20, 32 (2d Cir. 2018)).  Furthermore, Defendants note that the 

Amendments apply to all attorneys.  Id. (citing Barr v. Lafon, 538 F.3d 554, 572 

(6th Cir. 2008)).   

Finally, Defendants contend that the Supreme Court has held that states have 

a “compelling interest” in regulating professions, and that “broad power” is 

“especially great” in “regulating lawyers[.]”  Id. (quoting In re Primus, 436 U.S. 

412, 422 (1978)) (additional citations omitted).  Defendants further contend that 

states have a substantial interest both in “protect[ing] the integrity and fairness of a 

State’s judicial system,” Gentile v. State Bar of Nevada, 501 U.S. 1030, 1031 



 25 

(1991), and in preventing attorneys from engaging in conduct that “is universally 

regarded as deplorable and beneath common decency,” Fla. Bar v. Went For It, 

Inc., 515 U.S. 618, 625 (1995) (internal citations omitted).  ECF No. 15 at 31. 

Plaintiff, on the other hand, contends that Rule 8.4(g)’s prohibition on using 

words to “manifest bias or prejudice, or engage in harassment or discrimination” is 

unconstitutional viewpoint discrimination.  ECF No. 25 at 19.   Plaintiff contends 

that the Amendments allow for “tolerant, benign, and respectful speech” while 

disallowing “biased, prejudiced, discriminatory, critical, and derogatory speech.”  

Id.   Plaintiff highlights Matal v. Tam, where the Supreme Court found that a 

federal statute prohibiting the registration of trademarks that may “disparage or 

bring into contempt or disrepute” any “persons, living or dead” was a viewpoint-

based restriction.  Id. (citing Matal v. Tam, 137 S. Ct. 1744, 1751 (2017)).  The 

Court stated that this “law thus reflects the Government’s disapproval of a subset 

of messages it finds offensive, the essence of viewpoint discrimination.”  Matal, 

137 S. Ct. at 1750.   

Plaintiff further disputes that Rule 8.4(g) regulates discriminatory and 

harassing conduct and not speech, since the plain language of Rule 8.4(g) restricts 

“words” in addition to “conduct” and “manifest[ing] bias or prejudice” in addition 

to “engag[ing] in harassment or discrimination.”  ECF No. 25 at 20.   Plaintiff 

notes that Rule 8.4(g) mirrors Rule 2.3 of the Pennsylvania Judicial Code of 



 26 

Conduct, which states that “[e]xamples of manifestations of bias and prejudice 

include . . . epithets; slurs; demeaning nicknames,” and this further underscores 

that Rule 8.4(g) prohibits the expression of certain words alone, apart from any 

conduct.  Id.   

Plaintiff further disputes Defendants’ claim that because 8.4(g) applies to all 

attorneys it cannot be viewpoint discrimination.  Id. at 21.  Plaintiff contends that 

this is not the test for viewpoint discrimination and that the Supreme Court rejected 

the same argument.  Id.  Plaintiff contends that if the Court finds that the 

Amendments consist of viewpoint bias, that “end[s] the matter.”  Id. (quoting 

Iancu v. Brunetti, 204 L. Ed. 2d 714 (2019)).   

Plaintiff further contends that even though Rule 8.4(g) is a regulation of 

“professional speech,” it is still unconstitutional viewpoint-based discrimination 

under the Supreme Court’s ruling in Nat’l Inst. of Family & Life Advocates v. 

Becerra.  Id. at 22 (citing Nat’l Inst. of Family & Life Advocates v. Becerra, 138 S. 

Ct. 2361, 2375 (2018) [hereinafter NIFLA]).  Plaintiff contends that Rule 8.4(g) 

does not fit within either of the two areas that the Court in NIFLA recognized 

justified regulation of professional speech.  Id.  Plaintiff contends that Rule 8.4(g) 

is not a law that “require[s] professionals to disclose factual, noncontroversial 

information in their ‘commercial speech,” nor does it merely “regulate professional 



 27 

conduct, . . . [that] incidentally involves speech.”  Id. (quoting NIFLA, 138 S. Ct. at 

2372).    

Plaintiff further contends that the Court in Gentile and Sawyer recognized 

that when an attorney’s speech occurs as part of pending litigation or a client 

representation, it is “more censurable” because it can “obstruct the administration 

of justice.”  Id. at 23 (quoting In re Sawyer, 360 U.S. 622, 636 (1959)) (citing 

Gentile, 501 U.S. at 1074 (“[O]ur opinions… indicate that the speech of lawyers 

representing clients in pending cases may be regulated under a less demanding 

standard than that established for regulation of the press.”)).  Rule 8.4(g), however, 

contains no similar limitation, as it applies to any words or conduct uttered “in the 

practice of law,” which includes participating in events where CLE credits are 

issued.  Id. (quoting Pa.R.P.C. 8.4(g)).   

1. Attorney Speech and Professional Speech 

The Court recognizes that Pennsylvania has an interest in licensing attorneys 

and the administration of justice.  However, contrary to Defendants’ contention, 

speech by an attorney or by a professional is only subject to greater regulation than 

speech by others in certain circumstances, none of which are present here.  The 

Supreme Court in Gentile v. State Bar of Nevada found that, “in the courtroom 

itself, during a judicial proceeding, whatever right to ‘free speech’ an attorney has 



 28 

is extremely circumscribed.”  501 U.S. at 1071.  Furthermore, “[e]ven outside the 

courtroom . . . lawyers in pending cases [are] subject to ethical restrictions on 

speech to which an ordinary citizen would not be.”  Id. (citing In re Sawyer, 360 

U.S. 622 (1959)).  The Supreme Court has “expressly contemplated that the speech 

of those participating before the courts could be limited.”  Id. at 1072.  

Additionally, in the commercial context, the Supreme Court’s “decisions dealing 

with a lawyer’s right under the First Amendment to solicit business and advertise . 

. . have not suggested that lawyers are protected by the First Amendment to the 

same extent as those engaged in other business.”  Id. at 1073 (collecting cases).   

In contrast, Rule 8.4(g) does not limit its prohibition of “words . . . [that] 

manifest bias or prejudice” to the legal process, since it also prohibits these words 

or conduct “during activities that are required for a lawyer to practice law,” 

including seminars or activities where legal education credits are offered.  

Pa.R.P.C. 8.4(g).  Rule 8.4(g) does not seek to limit attorneys’ speech only when 

that attorney is in court, nor when that attorney has a pending case, nor even when 

that attorney seeks to solicit business and advertise.  Rule 8.4(g) much more 

broadly prohibits attorneys’ speech.   

This Court also finds that Rule 8.4(g) does not cover “professional speech” 

that is entitled to less protection.  The Supreme Court “has not recognized 

‘professional speech’ as a separate category of speech.”  NIFLA, 138 S. Ct. at 2371 



 29 

(finding petitioners were likely to succeed on merits of claim that act requiring 

clinics that primarily serve pregnant women to provide certain notices violated the 

First Amendment).  “Speech is not unprotected merely because it is uttered by 

‘professionals.’” Id. at 2371-2372. 

However, the Supreme Court “has afforded less protection for professional 

speech in two circumstances.”  Id. at 2372.  “First, [Supreme Court] precedents 

have applied more deferential review to some laws that require professionals to 

disclose factual, noncontroversial information in their ‘commercial speech.’”  Id. 

(collecting cases). “Second, under [Supreme Court] precedents, States may 

regulate professional conduct, even though that conduct incidentally involves 

speech.”  Id. (collecting cases).  

Rule 8.4(g) does not fall into either of these categories.  First, Rule 8.4(g) 

does not relate specifically to commercial speech, nor does it require that 

professionals “disclose factual, noncontroversial information.”   Id.   

Second, Rule 8.4(g) does not regulate professional conduct that incidentally 

involves speech.  The plain language of Rule 8.4(g) explicitly prohibits “words” 

that manifest bias or prejudice.  Furthermore, a comment included in a May 2018 

proposal of Rule 8.4(g) “explains and illustrates” that Rule 8.4(g) was intended to 

regulate speech.  Pa.R.P.C., Preamble and Scope (“The Comment accompanying 



 30 

each Rule explains and illustrates the meaning and purpose of the Rule.”)  This 

comment stated, “[e]xamples of manifestations of bias or prejudice include but are 

not limited to epithets; slurs; demeaning nicknames; negative stereotyping; 

attempted humor based upon stereotypes; threatening, intimidating, or hostile acts; 

suggestions of connections between race, ethnicity, or nationality and crime; and 

irrelevant references to personal characteristics.”7  48 Pa.B. 2936.  This proposed 

comment reveals that the drafters of Rule 8.4(g) intended to explicitly restrict 

offensive words in prohibiting an attorney from “manifest[ing] bias or prejudice.”   

Although the final version of Rule 8.4(g) does not include this comment, the 

fatal language, “by words . . . manifest bias or prejudice,” remains.  Removing this 

candid comment about the intent of the Rule does not also remove the intent of 

those words.  That this language, “by words . . . manifest bias or prejudice,” 

remained in the final version of Rule 8.4(g) illustrates the Rule’s broad and chilling 

implications.  If the drafters wished to reform the Rule, they could have easily 

removed the offending language from the Rule as well the proposed comment.  

Removing the comment alone did not rid Rule 4.8(g) of its language specifically 

targeting speech.   

 
7 This exact language also appears in Comment 2 to Rule 2.3 of Pennsylvania Code of Judicial 
Conduct.  Pa.C.J.C. Rule 2.3.  Both parties agree Pennsylvania Code of Judicial Conduct Rule 
2.3 mirrors Pennsylvania Rule of Professional Conduct Rule 8.4(g). See ECF No. 15 at 28; ECF 
No. 25 at 7. 



 31 

Despite this, Defendants tell us to look away from the clearly drafted 

language of the Rule and focus rather on the conduct component.  Plaintiff agrees 

that if we were looking at conduct, the government has a right to regulate conduct 

of its licensed attorneys.  See ECF No. 25 at 21.  Defendants try to deflect our 

attention away from the clear speech regulation in the Rule because they 

themselves had to know in drafting the Rule they were venturing into the narrowest 

of channels that permit government to regulate speech.  They merge “words” into 

“conduct” by blithely arguing that the shoal that confronts us is a mere illusion to 

be ignored and is simply nothing but part of the deep, blue channel.  Yet, when the 

reality of the shoal hits the ship, it will not be the government left ensnared and 

churning in the sand, it will be the individual attorney and the attorney’s practice 

embedded in an inquisition regarding the manifestation of bias and prejudice, and 

an exploration of the attorney’s character and previously expressed viewpoints, to 

determine if such manifestation was “knowing.”  

Defendants cite Rumsfeld v. Forum for Acad. & Institutional Rights, Inc., to 

support their contention that Rule 8.4(g) is intended to prohibit “conduct carried 

out by words,” and not speech.  Transcript of Oral Argument at 25; ECF No. 15 at 

17 (citing Rumsfeld v. Forum for Acad. & Institutional Rights, Inc., 547 U.S. 47, 

62 (2006)).  In Rumsfeld, the Supreme Court held that speech was incidental to the 

challenged law’s requirement that law schools afford equal access to military 



 32 

recruiters.  547 U.S. at 62.  The challenged law denied federal funding to an 

institution of higher education that prohibited the military from recruiting on its 

campus.  Id. at 47.  The plaintiffs brought suit, seeking to deny the military from 

recruiting on their campuses because of “disagreement with the Government's 

policy on homosexuals in the military,” and arguing that the law violated law 

schools’ freedom of speech.  Id. at 51, 60.  The Supreme Court held that the law 

did not regulate speech, nor did the expressive nature of the conduct regulated 

bring it under the First Amendment’s protection.  Id. at 65.  The Court held, “it has 

never been deemed an abridgment of freedom of speech or press to make a course 

of conduct illegal merely because the conduct was in part initiated, evidenced, or 

carried out by means of language, either spoken, written, or printed.”  Id. at 62 

(quoting Giboney v. Empire Storage & Ice Co., 336 U.S. 490, 502 (1949)). 

The Supreme Court’s holding in Rumsfeld is inapplicable to the case before 

this Court.  Whereas the challenged law in Rumsfeld required the plaintiffs to 

provide equal campus access to military recruiters, a law that clearly regulates 

conduct, the Amendments explicitly limit what Pennsylvania attorneys may say in 

the practice of law.  Rule 8.4(g)’s prohibition against using “words” to “manifest 

bias or prejudice” does not regulate conduct “carried out by means of language.”  

Rumsfeld, 547 U.S. at 62.  It simply regulates speech.  Even if the Rule was 

intended to prohibit “harassment and discrimination . . . carried out by words,” 



 33 

Transcript of Oral Argument at 25, Rule 8.4(g) plainly prohibits “words . . . 

manifest[ing] bias or prejudice,” which regulates a much broader category of 

speech than supposedly intended.   

“Outside of the two contexts discussed above—disclosures under [attorney 

advertising] and professional conduct—[the Supreme] Court’s precedents have 

long protected the First Amendment rights of professionals.”  NIFLA, 138 S. Ct. at 

2374.  “The dangers associated with content-based regulations of speech are also 

present in the context of professional speech.”  Id.  “As with other kinds of speech, 

regulating the content of professionals’ speech ‘pose[s] the inherent risk that the 

Government seeks not to advance a legitimate regulatory goal, but to suppress 

unpopular ideas or information.’”  Id. (quoting Turner Broadcasting Sys., Inc. v. 

FCC, 512 U.S. 622, 641 (1994)).  “States cannot choose the protection that speech 

receives under the First Amendment [by imposing a licensing requirement], as that 

would give them a powerful tool to impose ‘invidious discrimination of disfavored 

subjects.’”  Id. (quoting City of Cincinnati v. Discovery Network, Inc., 507 U.S. 

410, 423-424  (1993)) (additional citations omitted).  Defendants may not impinge 

upon Pennsylvania attorneys’ First Amendment rights simply because Rule 8.4(g) 

regulates speech by professionals. 

Furthermore, in In re Primus, quoted by Defendants to establish that states 

have “broad power” to regulate attorneys, the Court ultimately concluded that the 



 34 

state’s application of the disciplinary rules violated the First and Fourteenth 

Amendments, showing the limits to that “broad” regulation power.  436 U.S. 412, 

438 (1978).  In In re Primus, a lawyer informed a prospective client via letter that 

free legal assistance was available from a nonprofit organization with which this 

lawyer worked.  Id. at 414.  Based on this activity, the state disciplinary board 

charged the lawyer with soliciting a client in violation of the disciplinary rules and 

administered a private reprimand.  Id. at 421.  The state supreme court then 

adopted the board’s findings and increased the sanction to a public reprimand.  Id.  

The Supreme Court found that the “State’s special interest in regulating members 

whose profession it licenses, and who serve as officers of its courts, amply justifies 

the application of narrowly drawn rules to proscribe solicitation that in fact is 

misleading, overbearing, or involves other features of deception or improper 

influence.”  Id. at 438 (emphasis added).  Even though the state had argued that the 

regulatory program was aimed at preventing undue influence “and other evils that 

are thought to inhere generally in solicitation by lawyers of prospective clients,” 

the Court found that “that ‘[b]road prophylactic rules in the area of free expression 

are suspect,’ and that ‘[p]recision of regulation must be the touchstone in an area 

so closely touching our most precious freedoms.’”  Id. at 432 (quoting Button, 371 

U.S., at 438).  “Because of the danger of censorship through selective enforcement 

of broad prohibitions, and ‘[b]ecause First Amendment freedoms need breathing 



 35 

space to survive, government may regulate in [this] area only with narrow 

specificity.’” Id. at 432-433 (quoting Button, 371 U.S., at 433) (alteration in 

original).  This case does not, therefore, ultimately support Defendants’ conclusion 

nor indicate that Defendants have broad power in this context to regulate attorneys’ 

words. 

Rule 8.4(g) does not regulate the specific types of attorney speech or 

professional speech that the Supreme Court has identified as warranting a 

deferential review.  The speech that Rule 8.4(g) regulates is entitled to the full 

protection of the First Amendment.   

2. Viewpoint-Based Discrimination 

The Court finds that the Amendments, Rule 8.4(g) and Comments 3 and 4, 

are viewpoint-based discrimination in violation of the First Amendment.   

“[L]aws that by their terms distinguish favored speech from disfavored 

speech on the basis of the ideas or views expressed are content based.” Startzell v. 

City of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 533 F.3d 183, 193 (3d Cir. 2008) (quoting 

Turner Broadcasting, 512 U.S. at 643) (alteration in original).  Content-based 

restrictions “are subject to the ‘most exacting scrutiny,’ . . . because they ‘pose the 

inherent risk that the Government seeks not to advance a legitimate regulatory 

goal, but to suppress unpopular ideas or information or manipulate the public 



 36 

debate through coercion rather than persuasion.’”  Id. (quoting Turner 

Broadcasting, 512 U.S. at 641-642). 

Viewpoint discrimination is “[w]hen the government targets not subject 

matter, but particular views taken by speakers on a subject.”  Id. (quoting 

Rosenberger v. Rector & Visitors of Univ. of Va., 515 U.S. 819, 829 (1995)). 

“Viewpoint discrimination is thus an egregious form of content discrimination.”  

Id.  (quoting Rosenberger, 515 U.S. at 829).  “The government must abstain from 

regulating speech when the specific motivating ideology or the opinion or 

perspective of the speaker is the rationale for the restriction.”  Id. (quoting 

Rosenberger, 515 U.S. at 829).  

 “If there is a bedrock principle underlying the First Amendment, it is that 

the government may not prohibit the expression of an idea simply because society 

finds the idea itself offensive or disagreeable.”  Texas v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, 

414 (1989).  “[T]hat is viewpoint discrimination: Giving offense is a viewpoint.”  

Matal, 137 S. Ct. at 1763.  The Supreme Court has “said time and again that ‘the 

public expression of ideas may not be prohibited merely because the ideas are 

themselves offensive to some of their hearers.’”  Id. (quoting Street v. New York, 

394 U.S. 576, 592 (1969)) (additional citations omitted). 



 37 

In Matal v. Tam, the Supreme Court considered the constitutionality of “a 

provision of federal law prohibiting the registration of trademarks that may 

‘disparage . . . or bring . . . into contemp[t] or disrepute’ any ‘persons, living or 

dead.’”  137 S. Ct. at 1751.  The Court concluded that the provision violated the 

Free Speech Clause of the First Amendment because “[s]peech may not be banned 

on the ground that it expresses ideas that offend.”  Id.  The Court noted that when 

the government creates a limited public forum for private speech “some content- 

and speaker-based restrictions may be allowed,” but, “even in such cases . . . 

‘viewpoint discrimination’ is forbidden.”  Id. (citing Rosenberger, 515 U.S. at 830-

831).  The Court clarified that the term “viewpoint” discrimination is to be used in 

a broad sense and, even if the provision at issue “evenhandedly prohibits 

disparagement of all group,” it is still viewpoint discrimination because “[g]iving 

offense is a viewpoint.”  Id. at 1763.   

In a concurring opinion, Justice Kennedy stated that “[t]he First Amendment 

guards against laws ‘targeted at specific subject matter,’ [a] form of speech 

suppression known as content based discrimination.”  Id. at 1765-1766 (Kennedy, 

J., concurring) (quoting Reed v. Town of Gilbert, 576 U.S. 155, 169 (2015)).  “This 

category includes a subtype of laws that go further, aimed at the suppression of 

‘particular views . . .  on a subject.’”   Id. (Kennedy, J., concurring) (quoting 

Rosenberger, 515 U.S. at 829) (alteration in original).  “A law found to 



 38 

discriminate based on viewpoint is an ‘egregious form of content discrimination,’ 

which is ‘presumptively unconstitutional.’” Id. (Kennedy, J., concurring) (quoting 

Rosenberger, 515 U.S. at 829–830).   

“At its most basic, the test for viewpoint discrimination is whether—within 

the relevant subject category—the government has singled out a subset of 

messages for disfavor based on the views expressed.”  Id. at 1766 (Kennedy, J., 

concurring) (citation omitted).  Justice Kennedy further stated that even though the 

provision at issue applied in “equal measure to any trademark that demeans or 

offends,” it was not viewpoint neutral: “To prohibit all sides from criticizing their 

opponents makes a law more viewpoint based, not less so.”  Id. at 1766 (Kennedy, 

J., concurring) (citation omitted).   

Similarly, Rule 8.4(g) states that it is professional misconduct for a lawyer, 

“in the practice of law, by words or conduct, to knowingly manifest bias or 

prejudice . . . . ”  Pa.R.P.C. 8.4(g) (emphasis added).  While Rule 8.4(g) restricts 

Pennsylvania attorneys’ ability to express bias or prejudice “based upon race, sex, 

gender identity or expression, religion, national origin, ethnicity, disability, age, 

sexual orientation, marital status, or socioeconomic status,” it allows Pennsylvania 

attorneys to express tolerance or respect based on these same statuses. Id.  

Defendants have “singled out a subset of message,” those words that manifest bias 



 39 

or prejudice, “for disfavor based on the views expressed.”  Matal, 137 S. Ct. at 

1766 (Kennedy, J., concurring) (citation omitted). 

As in Matal, Defendants seek to remove certain ideas or perspectives from 

the broader debate by prohibiting words that manifest bias or prejudice.  The 

American Civil Liberties Union defines censorship as “the suppression of words, 

images, or ideas that are ‘offensive,’ [which] happens whenever some people 

succeed in imposing their personal political or moral values on others.”  What is 

censorship?, ACLU, https://www.aclu.org/other/what-censorship (last visited 

December 7, 2020).  This is exactly what Defendants attempt to do with Rule 

8.4(g).  Although Defendants contend that Rule 8.4(g) “was enacted to address 

discrimination, equal access to justice, [and] the fairness of the judicial system,” 

the plain language of Rule 8.4(g) does not reflect this intention.  Transcript of Oral 

Argument at 3.  Rule 8.4(g) explicitly prohibits words manifesting bias or 

prejudice, i.e., “offensive” words.  In short, Defendants seek to impose their 

personal moral values on others by censoring all opposing viewpoints.   

“A law found to discriminate based on viewpoint is an ‘egregious form of 

content discrimination,’ which is ‘presumptively unconstitutional.’”  Id. at 1766 

(Kennedy, J., concurring) (quoting Rosenberger, 515 U.S. at 829-830).  Therefore, 



 40 

“[t]he Court’s finding of viewpoint bias end[s] the matter.”  Iancu v. Brunetti, 139 

S. Ct. 2294, 2302 (2019).8 

The irony cannot be missed that attorneys, those who are most educated and 

encouraged to engage in dialogues about our freedoms, are the very ones here who 

are forced to limit their words to those that do not “manifest bias or prejudice.”  

Pa.R.P.C. 8.4(g).  This Rule represents the government restricting speech outside 

of the courtroom, outside of the context of a pending case, and even outside the 

much broader playing field of “administration of justice.”  Even if Plaintiff makes 

a good faith attempt to restrict and self-censor, the Rule leaves Plaintiff with no 

guidance as to what is in bounds, and what is out, other than to advise Plaintiff to 

scour every nook and cranny of each ordinance, rule, and law in the Nation.  

Furthermore, the influence and insight of the May 2018 comments on this self-

 
8 Even if the Court were to weigh the competing interests involved, Rule 8.4(g) would not pass 
either strict scrutiny or intermediate scrutiny.  “To survive strict scrutiny analysis, a statute must: 
(1) serve a compelling governmental interest; (2) be narrowly tailored to achieve that interest; 
and (3) be the least restrictive means of advancing that interest.” ACLU v. Mukasey, 534 F.3d 
181, 190 (3d Cir. 2008).  The compelling interest provided by Defendants is “ensuring that those 
who engage in the practice of law do not knowingly discriminate or harass someone so that the 
legal profession ‘functions for all participants,’ ensures justice and fairness, and maintains the 
public’s confidence in the judicial system.”  ECF No. 15 at 22-23.  However, as addressed at 
length in this Memorandum, by also prohibiting “words . . . [that] manifest bias or prejudice,” 
the Amendments are neither narrowly tailored nor the least restrictive means of advancing that 
interest.  Pa.R.P.C. 8.4(g).  In the same way, the Amendments would not survive intermediate 
scrutiny as they are not “narrowly tailored to serve a significant governmental interest.”  Barr v. 
Am. Ass’n of Political Consultants, Inc, 140 S. Ct. 2335, 2356 (2020) (Sotomayor, J., 
concurring) (quoting Ward v. Rock Against Racism, 491 U.S. 781, 791 (1989)). 



 41 

censorship will loom large as guidance as to the intent of the Rule.  See supra p. 

29.   

There is no doubt that the government is acting with beneficent intentions.  

However, in doing so, the government has created a rule that promotes a 

government-favored, viewpoint monologue and creates a pathway for its 

handpicked arbiters to determine, without any concrete standards, who and what 

offends.  This leaves the door wide open for them to determine what is bias and 

prejudice based on whether the viewpoint expressed is socially and politically 

acceptable and within the bounds of permissible cultural parlance.  Yet the 

government cannot set its standard by legislating diplomatic speech because 

although it embarks upon a friendly, favorable tide, this tide sweeps us all along 

with the admonished, minority viewpoint into the massive currents of suppression 

and repression.  Our limited constitutional Government was designed to protect the 

individual’s right to speak freely, including those individuals expressing words or 

ideas we abhor.  

Therefore, the Court holds that the Amendments, Rule 8.4(g) and Comments 

3 and 4, consist of unconstitutional viewpoint discrimination in violation of the 

First Amendment.  Because the Court finds that Plaintiff has standing and that the 



 42 

Amendments constitute unconstitutional viewpoint discrimination, Defendants’ 

Motion to Dismiss is denied.9 

As for Plaintiff’s Motion for a Preliminary Injunction, for the foregoing 

reasons, the Court finds Plaintiff has shown that the likelihood of success on the 

merits of his constitutional claim is “significantly better than negligible.”  Reilly, 

858 F.3d at 179.   

Second, “[t]he loss of First Amendment freedoms, for even minimal periods 

of time, unquestionably constitutes irreparable injury.” Stilp, 613 F.3d at 409 

(citing Elrod, 427 U.S. at 373).  Plaintiff alleged that he will be chilled in the 

exercise of his First Amendment rights at CLE presentations and other speaking 

events if the Amendments go into effect as planned on December 8, 2020.  ECF 

No. 16-1 at 28 (citing ECF No. 1 at ¶ 60).  As the Court has found the 

Amendments constitute unconstitutional viewpoint discrimination and Plaintiff has 

alleged a chilling effect that is objectively reasonable in light of the plain language 

in Rule 8.4(g), Plaintiff has shown he is more likely than not to suffer irreparable 

harm in the absence of preliminary relief.  Plaintiff has thus met the threshold for 

 
9 The Court also denies Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss as to Count II, alleging unconstitutional 
vagueness. 



 43 

the “first two ‘most critical’ factors” in determining whether to grant a preliminary 

injunction.  Reilly, 858 F.3d at 179.   

As the Court has found that the Amendments violate the First Amendment, 

the last two factors, (3) the possibility of harm to other interested persons from the 

grant or denial of the injunction, and (4) the public interest, also favor preliminary 

relief.  On balance, and because Plaintiff has satisfied the first two factors, the 

factors favor granting the preliminary injunction.10  Therefore, the Court grants 

Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction.   

D. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Court denies Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss 

and grants Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Injunction.   

An appropriate order will follow. 

BY THE COURT: 
DATE: _December 7, 2020_____ 
        /s/ Chad F. Kenney 
              
        CHAD F. KENNEY, JUDGE 
 

 
10 The parties agree that there should be no bond.  Transcript of Oral Argument at 50-51; ECF 
No. 21 at ¶ 50 (“The Defendants bear no risk of financial loss if they are wrongfully enjoined in 
this case.”) 



Tab 4 
 



RPC05.05. Amend.  Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

Rule 5.5. Unauthorized Practice of Law; Multijurisdictional Practice of Law. 1 

(a) A lawyer shall not practice law in a jurisdiction in violation of the regulation of the 2 

legal profession in that jurisdiction, or assist another in doing so. 3 

(b) A lawyer who is not admitted to practice in this jurisdiction: shall not: 4 

(1) must not, except as authorized by these Rules or other law, establish an public-5 

facing office or other systematic and continuous presence in this jurisdiction for the 6 

practice of law; or 7 

(2) must not hold out to the public or otherwise represent that the lawyer is 8 

admitted to practice law in this jurisdiction; . 9 

(3) may, while physically located in this jurisdiction, provide legal services remotely 10 

to clients in a jurisdiction where the lawyer is admitted so long as the lawyer does 11 

not establish a public-facing office in this jurisdiction and complies with subsection 12 

(b)(2).  13 

(c) A lawyer admitted in another United States jurisdiction, and not disbarred or 14 

suspended from practice in any jurisdiction, may provide legal services on a temporary 15 

basis in this jurisdiction that: 16 

(1) are undertaken in association with a lawyer who is admitted to practice in this 17 

jurisdiction and who actively participates in the matter; 18 

(2) are in or reasonably related to a pending or potential proceeding before a 19 

tribunal in this or another jurisdiction, if the lawyer, or a person the lawyer is 20 

assisting, is authorized by law or order to appear in such proceeding or reasonably 21 

expects to be so authorized; 22 

(3) are in or reasonably related to a pending or potential arbitration, mediation or 23 

other alternative dispute resolution proceeding in this or another jurisdiction, if the 24 

services arise out of or are reasonably related to the lawyer’s practice in a 25 



RPC05.05. Amend.  Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted to practice and are not services for 26 

which the forum requires pro hac vice admission; or 27 

(4) are not within paragraphs (c)(2) or (c)(3) and arise out of or are reasonably 28 

related to the lawyer’s practice in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted to 29 

practice. 30 

(d) A lawyer admitted in another United States jurisdiction and not disbarred or 31 

suspended from practice in any jurisdiction may provide legal services through an 32 

office or other systematic and continuous presence in this jurisdiction without 33 

admission to the Utah State Bar if: 34 

(1) the services are provided to the lawyer’s employer or its organizational affiliates 35 

while the lawyer has a pending application for admission to the Utah State Bar and 36 

are not services for which the forum requires pro hac vice admission; or 37 

(2) the services provided are authorized by specific federal or Utah law or by 38 

applicable rule. 39 

Comment 40 

[1] A lawyer may practice law only in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is authorized to 41 

practice. A lawyer may be admitted to practice law in a jurisdiction on a regular basis or 42 

may be authorized by court rule or order or by law to practice for a limited purpose or 43 

on a restricted basis. Paragraph (a) applies to unauthorized practice of law by a lawyer, 44 

whether through the lawyer’s direct action or by the lawyer’s assisting another person. 45 

For example, a lawyer may not assist a person in practicing law in violation of the rules 46 

governing professional conduct in that person’s jurisdiction. 47 

[2] The definition of the practice of law is established by law and varies from one 48 

jurisdiction to another. The "practice of law" in Utah is defined in Rule 14-802(b)(1), 49 

Authorization to Practice Law, of the Supreme Court Rules of Professional Practice. 50 

This Rule does not prohibit a lawyer from employing the services of paraprofessionals 51 



RPC05.05. Amend.  Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

and delegating functions to them, so long as the lawyer supervises the delegated work 52 

and retains responsibility for their work. See Rule 5.3. 53 

[2a] The Utah rule modifies the second sentence of ABA Comment [2] to reflect and be 54 

consistent with Rule 14-802(b)(1), Authorization to Practice Law, of the Supreme Court 55 

Rules of Professional Practice, which both defines the “practice of law” and expressly 56 

authorizes nonlawyers to engage in some aspects of the practice of law as long as their 57 

activities are confined to the categories of services specified in that rule. 58 

[3] A lawyer may provide professional advice and instruction to nonlawyers whose 59 

employment requires knowledge of the law, for example, claims adjusters, employees 60 

of financial or commercial institutions, social workers, accountants and persons 61 

employed in government agencies. Lawyers also may assist independent nonlawyers, 62 

such as paraprofessionals, who are authorized by the law of a jurisdiction to provide 63 

particular law-related services. In addition, a lawyer may counsel nonlawyers who wish 64 

to proceed pro se. 65 

[4] Other than as authorized by law or this Rule, a lawyer who is not admitted to 66 

practice generally in this jurisdiction violates paragraph (b)(1) if the lawyer establishes 67 

an public-facing office or other systematic and continuous presence in this jurisdiction 68 

for the practice of law. Presence may be systematic and continuous even if the lawyer is 69 

not physically present here. Such a lawyer must not hold out to the public or otherwise 70 

represent that the lawyer is admitted to practice law in this jurisdiction. See also Rules 71 

7.1(a) and 7.5(b). 72 

[4a] Utah's Rule 5.5(b) differs from the ABA Model Rule by recognizing in paragraph 73 

(b)(3) that systemic and continuous physical presence in Utah while practicing law for 74 

another jurisdiction does not in itself violate this Rule.  75 

[5] There are occasions in which a lawyer admitted to practice in another United States 76 

jurisdiction, and not disbarred or suspended from practice in any jurisdiction, may 77 

provide legal services on a temporary basis in this jurisdiction under circumstances that 78 



RPC05.05. Amend.  Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

do not create an unreasonable risk to the interests of their clients, the public or the 79 

courts. Paragraph (c) identifies four such circumstances. The fact that conduct is not so 80 

identified does not imply that the conduct is or is not authorized. With the exception of 81 

paragraphs (d)(1) and (d)(2), this Rule does not authorize a lawyer to establish an office 82 

or other systematic and continuous presence in this jurisdiction without being admitted 83 

to practice generally here. 84 

[6] There is no single test to determine whether a lawyer’s services are provided on a 85 

"temporary basis" in this jurisdiction and may therefore be permissible under paragraph 86 

(c). Services may be "temporary" even though the lawyer provides services in this 87 

jurisdiction on a recurring basis, or for an extended period of time, as when the lawyer 88 

is representing a client in a single lengthy negotiation or litigation. 89 

[7] Paragraphs (c) and (d) apply to lawyers who are admitted to practice law in any 90 

United States jurisdiction, which includes the District of Columbia and any state, 91 

territory or commonwealth of the United States. The word "admitted" in paragraphs (c) 92 

and (d) contemplates that the lawyer is authorized to practice in the jurisdiction in 93 

which the lawyer is admitted and excludes a lawyer who while technically admitted is 94 

not authorized to practice, because, for example, the lawyer is on inactive status. 95 

[8] Paragraph (c)(1) recognizes that the interests of clients and the public are protected if 96 

a lawyer admitted only in another jurisdiction associates with a lawyer licensed to 97 

practice in this jurisdiction. For this paragraph to apply, however, the lawyer admitted 98 

to practice in this jurisdiction must actively participate in and share responsibility for 99 

the representation of the client. 100 

[9] Lawyers not admitted to practice generally in a jurisdiction may be authorized by 101 

law or order of a tribunal or an administrative agency to appear before the tribunal or 102 

agency. This authority may be granted pursuant to formal rules governing admission 103 

pro hac vice or pursuant to informal practice of the tribunal or agency. Under 104 

paragraph (c)(2), a lawyer does not violate this Rule when the lawyer appears before a 105 

tribunal or agency pursuant to such authority. To the extent that a court rule or other 106 



RPC05.05. Amend.  Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

law of this jurisdiction requires a lawyer who is not admitted to practice in this 107 

jurisdiction to obtain admission pro hac vice before appearing before a tribunal or 108 

administrative agency, this Rule requires the lawyer to obtain that authority. 109 

[10] Paragraph (c)(2) also provides that a lawyer rendering services in this jurisdiction 110 

on a temporary basis does not violate this Rule when the lawyer engages in conduct in 111 

anticipation of a proceeding or hearing in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is 112 

authorized to practice law or in which the lawyer reasonably expects to be admitted pro 113 

hac vice. Examples of such conduct include meetings with the client, interviews of 114 

potential witnesses and the review of documents. Similarly, a lawyer admitted only in 115 

another jurisdiction may engage in conduct temporarily in this jurisdiction in 116 

connection with pending litigation in another jurisdiction in which the lawyer is or 117 

reasonably expects to be authorized to appear, including taking depositions in this 118 

jurisdiction. 119 

[11] When a lawyer has been or reasonably expects to be admitted to appear before a 120 

court or administrative agency, paragraph (c)(2) also permits conduct by lawyers who 121 

are associated with that lawyer in the matter, but who do not expect to appear before 122 

the court or administrative agency. For example, subordinate lawyers may conduct 123 

research, review documents and attend meetings with witnesses in support of the 124 

lawyer responsible for the litigation. 125 

[12] Paragraph (c)(3) permits a lawyer admitted to practice law in another jurisdiction to 126 

perform services on a temporary basis in this jurisdiction if those services are in or 127 

reasonably related to a pending or potential arbitration, mediation or other alternative 128 

dispute resolution proceeding in this or another jurisdiction, if the services arise out of 129 

or are reasonably related to the lawyer’s practice in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is 130 

admitted to practice. The lawyer, however, must obtain admission pro hac vice in the 131 

case of a court-annexed arbitration or mediation or otherwise if court rules or law so 132 

require. 133 



RPC05.05. Amend.  Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

[13] Paragraph (c)(4) permits a lawyer admitted in another jurisdiction to provide 134 

certain legal services on a temporary basis in this jurisdiction that arise out of or are 135 

reasonably related to the lawyer’s practice in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is 136 

admitted but are not within paragraphs (c)(2) or (c)(3). 137 

[13a] The last sentence in Comment [13] to ABA Model Rule 5.5 has been omitted to 138 

comport with Utah’s definition of the “practice of law” in Rule 14-802(b)(1). 139 

[14] Paragraphs (c)(3) and (c)(4) require that the services arise out of or be reasonably 140 

related to the lawyer’s practice in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted. A 141 

variety of factors evidence such a relationship. The lawyer’s client may have been 142 

previously represented by the lawyer or may be resident in or have substantial contacts 143 

with the jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted. The matter, although involving 144 

other jurisdictions, may have a significant connection with that jurisdiction. In other 145 

cases, significant aspects of the lawyer’s work might be conducted in that jurisdiction or 146 

a significant aspect of the matter may involve the law of that jurisdiction. The necessary 147 

relationship might arise when the client’s activities or the legal issues involve multiple 148 

jurisdictions, such as when the officers of a multinational corporation survey potential 149 

business sites and seek the services of their lawyer in assessing the relative merits of 150 

each. In addition, the services may draw on the lawyer’s recognized expertise 151 

developed through the regular practice of law on behalf of clients in matters involving a 152 

particular body of federal, nationally-uniform, foreign or international law. 153 

[15] Paragraph (d) identifies two circumstances in which a lawyer who is admitted to 154 

practice in another United States jurisdiction, and is not disbarred or suspended from 155 

practice in any jurisdiction, may establish an office or other systematic and continuous 156 

presence in this jurisdiction for the practice of law as well as provide legal services on a 157 

temporary basis. Except as provided in paragraphs (d)(1) and (d)(2), a lawyer who is 158 

admitted to practice law in another jurisdiction and who establishes an office or other 159 

systematic or continuous presence in this jurisdiction must become admitted to practice 160 

law generally in this jurisdiction. 161 



RPC05.05. Amend.  Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

[15a] Utah's Rule 5.5(d) differs from the ABA Model Rule by requiring a person providing 162 

services to the lawyer’s employer to have submitted an application for admission to the 163 

Bar, such as an application for admission of attorney applicants under Supreme Court 164 

Rules of Professional Practice, Rule 14-704; admission by motion under Rule 14-705; or 165 

admission as House Counsel under Rule 14-719. 166 

[15b] Utah Rule 5.5 does not adopt the ABA’s provisions dealing with foreign lawyers, 167 

as other rules in Article 7 of the Rules Governing the Utah State Bar cover this matter. 168 

[16] Paragraph (d)(1) applies to a lawyer who is employed by a client to provide legal 169 

services to the client or its organizational affiliates, i.e., entities that control, are 170 

controlled by or are under common control with the employer. This paragraph does not 171 

authorize the provision of personal legal services to the employer’s officers or 172 

employees. The paragraph applies to in-house corporate lawyers, government lawyers 173 

and others who are employed to render legal services to the employer. The lawyer’s 174 

ability to represent the employer outside the jurisdiction in which the lawyer is licensed 175 

generally serves the interests of the employer and does not create an unreasonable risk 176 

to the client and others because the employer is well situated to assess the lawyer’s 177 

qualifications and the quality of the lawyer’s work. 178 

[17] If an employed lawyer establishes an office or other systematic presence in this 179 

jurisdiction for the purpose of rendering legal services to the employer under 180 

paragraph (d)(1), the lawyer is subject to Utah admission and licensing requirements, 181 

including assessments for annual licensing fees and client protection funds, and 182 

mandatory continuing legal education. 183 

[18] Paragraph (d)(2) recognizes that a lawyer may provide legal services in a jurisdiction 184 

in which the lawyer is not licensed when authorized  federal or other law, which includes 185 

statute, court rule, executive regulation or judicial precedent. 186 

[18a] The Utah version of Paragraph (d)(2) clarifies that a lawyer not admitted to practice 187 

in Utah may provide legal services under that paragraph only if the lawyer can cite 188 



RPC05.05. Amend.  Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

specific federal or state law or an applicable rule that authorizes the services.  See, e.g., 189 

Rule DUCivR 83-1.1, Rules of Practice of the United States District Court of the District 190 

of Utah; Rule 14-804 of the Supreme Court Rules of Professional Practice, admission for 191 

military-lawyer practice; Rule 14-719(d)(2), which provides a six-month period during 192 

which an in-house counsel is authorized to practice before submitting a House Counsel 193 

application; practice as a patent attorney before the United States Patent and Trademark 194 

Office. 195 

[19] A lawyer who practices law in this jurisdiction pursuant to paragraphs (c) or (d) or 196 

otherwise is subject to the disciplinary authority of this jurisdiction. See Rule 8.5(a). 197 

[20] In some circumstances, a lawyer who practices law in this jurisdiction pursuant to 198 

paragraphs (c) or (d) may have to inform the client that the lawyer is not licensed to 199 

practice law in this jurisdiction. For example, that may be required when the 200 

representation occurs primarily in this jurisdiction and requires knowledge of the law 201 

of this jurisdiction. See Rule 1.4(b). 202 

[21] Paragraphs (c) and (d) do not authorize communications advertising legal services 203 

in this jurisdiction by lawyers who are admitted to practice in other jurisdictions. Rule 204 

7.1 governs wWhether and how lawyers may communicate the availability of their 205 

services in this jurisdiction. -are governed by Rules 7.1 to 7.5. 206 

 207 



RPC01.06. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

Rule 1.0. Terminology. 1 

(a) "Belief" or "believes" denotes that the person involved actually supposed the fact in 2 

question to be true. A person's belief may be inferred from circumstances. 3 

(b) "Confirmed in writing," when used in reference to the informed consent of a person, 4 

denotes informed consent that is given in writing by the person or a writing that a 5 

lawyer promptly transmits to the person confirming an oral informed consent. See 6 

paragraph (f) for the definition of "informed consent." If it is not feasible to obtain or 7 

transmit the writing at the time the person gives informed consent, then the lawyer 8 

must obtain or transmit it within a reasonable time thereafter. 9 

(c) "Consult" or "consultation" denotes communication of information reasonably 10 

sufficient to permit the client to appreciate the significance of the matter in question. 11 

(d) "Firm" or "law firm" denotes a lawyer or lawyers in a law partnership, professional 12 

corporation, sole proprietorship or other association authorized to practice law; or 13 

lawyers employed in a legal services organization or the legal department of a 14 

corporation or other organization. 15 

(e) "Fraud" or "fraudulent" denotes conduct that is fraudulent under the substantive or 16 

procedural law of the applicable jurisdiction and has a purpose to deceive. 17 

(f) "Informed consent" denotes the agreement by a person to a proposed course of 18 

conduct after the lawyer has communicated adequate information and explanation 19 

about the material risks of and reasonably available alternatives to the proposed course 20 

of conduct. 21 

(g) "Knowingly," "known" or "knows" denotes actual knowledge of the fact in question. 22 

A person's knowledge may be inferred from circumstances. 23 

(h) “Legal Professional” includes a lawyer and a licensed paralegal practitioner. 24 



RPC01.06. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

(i) “Licensed Paralegal Practitioner” denotes a person authorized by the Utah Supreme 25 

Court to provide legal representation under Rule 15-701 of the Supreme Court Rules of 26 

Professional Practice. 27 

(j) "Partner" denotes a member of a partnership, a shareholder in a law firm organized 28 

as a professional corporation, or a member of an association authorized to practice law. 29 

(k) “Public-facing office” means an office that is open to the public and provides a 30 

service that is available to the population in that location. 31 

(kl) "Reasonable" or "reasonably" when used in relation to conduct by a lawyer denotes 32 

the conduct of a reasonably prudent and competent lawyer. 33 

(lm) "Reasonable belief" or "reasonably believes" when used in reference to a lawyer 34 

denotes that the lawyer believes the matter in question and that the circumstances are 35 

such that the belief is reasonable. 36 

(mn) "Reasonably should know" when used in reference to a lawyer denotes that a 37 

lawyer of reasonable prudence and competence would ascertain the matter in question. 38 

(no) “Reckless” or “recklessly” denotes the conscious disregard of a duty that a lawyer 39 

is or reasonably should be aware of, or a conscious indifference to the truth. 40 

(p) “Referral fee” or “referral fees” is any exchange of value, whether in cash or in kind, 41 

bestowing an economic benefit to the referring party beyond what would be considered 42 

marginal or of minimal value for accounting and tax purposes under applicable law. 43 

(oq) "Screened" denotes the isolation of a lawyer from any participation in a matter 44 

through the timely imposition of procedures within a firm that are reasonably adequate 45 

under the circumstances to protect information that the isolated lawyer is obligated to 46 

protect under these Rules or other law. 47 

(pr) "Substantial" when used in reference to degree or extent denotes a material matter 48 

of clear and weighty importance. 49 



RPC01.06. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

(s) "Tribunal" denotes a court, an arbitrator in a binding arbitration proceeding or a 50 

legislative body, administrative agency or other body acting in an adjudicative capacity. 51 

A legislative body, administrative agency or other body acts in an adjudicative capacity 52 

when a neutral official, after the presentation of evidence or legal argument by a party 53 

or parties, will render a binding legal judgment directly affecting a party's interests in a 54 

particular matter. 55 

(rt) "Writing" or "written" denotes a tangible or electronic record of a communication or 56 

representation, including handwriting, typewriting, printing, photostating, 57 

photography, audio or video recording and electronic communications. A "signed" 58 

writing includes an electronic sound, symbol or process attached to or logically 59 

associated with a writing and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to sign 60 

the writing. 61 

Comment 62 

Confirmed in Writing 63 

[1] If it is not feasible to obtain or transmit a written confirmation at the time the client 64 

gives informed consent, then the lawyer must obtain or transmit it within a reasonable 65 

time thereafter. If a lawyer has obtained a client's informed consent, the lawyer may act 66 

in reliance on that consent so long as it is confirmed in writing within a reasonable time 67 

thereafter. 68 

Firm 69 

[2] Whether two or more lawyers constitute a firm within paragraph (d) can depend on 70 

the specific facts. For example, two practitioners who share office space and 71 

occasionally consult or assist each other ordinarily would not be regarded as 72 

constituting a firm. However, if they present themselves to the public in a way that 73 

suggests that they are a firm or conduct themselves as a firm, they should be regarded 74 

as a firm for purposes of these Rules. The terms of any formal agreement between 75 

associated lawyers are relevant in determining whether they are a firm, as is the fact 76 



RPC01.06. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

that they have mutual access to information concerning the clients they serve. 77 

Furthermore, it is relevant in doubtful cases to consider the underlying purpose of the 78 

rule that is involved. A group of lawyers could be regarded as a firm for purposes of the 79 

rule that the same lawyer should not represent opposing parties in litigation, while it 80 

might not be so regarded for purposes of the rule that information acquired by one 81 

lawyer is attributed to another. 82 

[3] With respect to the law department of an organization, including the government, 83 

there is ordinarily no question that the members of the department constitute a firm 84 

within the meaning of the Rules of Professional Conduct. There can be uncertainty, 85 

however, as to the identity of the client. For example, it may not be clear whether the 86 

law department of a corporation represents a subsidiary or an affiliated corporation, as 87 

well as the corporation by which the members of the department are directly employed. 88 

A similar question can arise concerning an unincorporated association and its local 89 

affiliates. 90 

[4] Similar questions can also arise with respect to lawyers in legal aid and legal services 91 

organizations. Depending upon the structure of the organization, the entire 92 

organization or different components of it may constitute a firm or firms for purposes of 93 

these Rules. 94 

Fraud 95 

[5] When used in these Rules, the terms "fraud" or "fraudulent" refer to conduct that is 96 

characterized as such under the substantive or procedural law of the applicable 97 

jurisdiction and has a purpose to deceive. This does not include merely negligent 98 

misrepresentation or negligent failure to apprise another of relevant information. For 99 

purposes of these Rules, it is not necessary that anyone has suffered damages or relied 100 

on the misrepresentation or failure to inform. 101 

Informed Consent 102 



RPC01.06. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

[6] Many of the Rules of Professional Conduct require the lawyer to obtain the informed 103 

consent of a client or other person (e.g., a former client or, under certain circumstances, 104 

a prospective client) before accepting or continuing representation or pursuing a course 105 

of conduct. See, e.g, Rules 1.2(c), 1.6(a), and 1.7(b), 1.8, 1.9(b), 1.12(a), and 1.18(d). The 106 

communication necessary to obtain such consent will vary according to the rule 107 

involved and the circumstances giving rise to the need to obtain informed consent. 108 

Other rules require a lawyer to The lawyer must make reasonable efforts to ensure that 109 

the client or other person possesses information reasonably adequate to make an 110 

informed decision. See, e.g., Rules 1.4(b) and 1.8. Ordinarily, this will require 111 

communication that includes a disclosure of the facts and circumstances giving rise to 112 

the situation, any explanation reasonably necessary to inform the client or other person 113 

of the material advantages and disadvantages of the proposed course of conduct and a 114 

discussion of the client's or other person's options and alternatives. In some 115 

circumstances it may be appropriate for a lawyer to advise a client or other person to 116 

seek the advice of other counsel. A lawyer need not inform a client or other person of 117 

facts or implications already known to the client or other person; nevertheless, a lawyer 118 

who does not personally inform the client or other person assumes the risk that the 119 

client or other person is inadequately informed and the consent is invalid. In 120 

determining whether the information and explanation provided are reasonably 121 

adequate, relevant factors include whether the client or other person is experienced in 122 

legal matters generally and in making decisions of the type involved, and whether the 123 

client or other person is independently represented by other counsel in giving the 124 

consent. Normally, such persons need less information and explanation than others, 125 

and generally a client or other person who is independently represented by other 126 

counsel in giving the consent should be assumed to have given informed consent. 127 

[7] Obtaining informed consent will usually require an affirmative response by the 128 

client or other person. In general, a lawyer may not assume consent from a client's or 129 

other person's silence. Consent may be inferred, however, from the conduct of a client 130 

or other person who has reasonably adequate information about the matter. A number 131 



RPC01.06. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

of rules require that a person's consent be confirmed in writing. See Rules 1.7(b) and 132 

1.9(a). For a definition of "writing" and "confirmed in writing," see paragraphs (r) and 133 

(b). Other rules require that a client's consent be obtained in a writing signed by the 134 

client. See, e.g., Rules 1.8(a) and (g). For a definition of "signed," see paragraph (r). 135 

Screened 136 

[8] This definition applies to situations where screening of a personally disqualified 137 

lawyer is permitted to remove imputation of a conflict of interest under Rules 1.10, 1.11, 138 

1.12 or 1.18. 139 

[9] The purpose of screening is to assure the affected parties that confidential 140 

information known by the personally disqualified lawyer remains protected. The 141 

personally disqualified lawyer should acknowledge the obligation not to communicate 142 

with any of the other lawyers in the firm with respect to the matter. Similarly, other 143 

lawyers in the firm who are working on the matter should be informed that the 144 

screening is in place and that they may not communicate with the personally 145 

disqualified lawyer with respect to the matter. Additional screening measures that are 146 

appropriate for the particular matter will depend on the circumstances. To implement, 147 

reinforce and remind all affected lawyers of the presence of the screening, it may be 148 

appropriate for the firm to undertake such procedures as a written undertaking by the 149 

screened lawyer to avoid any communication with other firm personnel and any 150 

contact with any firm files or other information, including information in electronic 151 

form, relating to the matter, written notice and instructions to all other firm personnel 152 

forbidding any communication with the screened lawyer relating to the matter, denial 153 

of access by the screened lawyer to firm files or other information, including 154 

information in electronic form, relating to the matter and periodic reminders of the 155 

screen to the screened lawyer and all other firm personnel. 156 

[10] In order to be effective, screening measures must be implemented as soon as 157 

practical after a lawyer or law firm knows or reasonably should know that there is a 158 

need for screening. 159 



RPC01.06. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

[10a] The definitions of “consult” and “consultation,” while deleted from the ABA 160 

Model Rule 1.0, have been retained in the Utah Rule because “consult” and 161 

“consultation” are used in the rules. See, e.g., Rules 1.2, 1.4, 1.14, and 1.18.   162 

  163 



Tab 5 
 



RPC01.05. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

Rule 1.5. Fees. 1 

(a) Reasonableness of attorney fees and expenses. A lawyer shallmust not make an 2 

agreement for, charge, or collect an unreasonable fee or an unreasonable amount for 3 

expenses. The factors to be considered in determining the reasonableness of a fee 4 

include the following: 5 

(1) the time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty of the questions 6 

involved and the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly; 7 

(2) the likelihood, if apparent to the client, that the acceptance of the particular 8 

employment will preclude other employment by the lawyer; 9 

(3) the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services; 10 

(4) the amount involved and the results obtained; 11 

(5) the time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances; 12 

(6) the nature and length of the professional relationship with the client; 13 

(7) the experience, reputation and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the 14 

services; and 15 

(8) whether the fee is fixed or contingent. 16 

(b) Communication to the client. The scope of the representation and the basis or rate 17 

of the fee and expenses for which the client will be responsible shallmust be 18 

communicated to the client, preferably in writing, before or within a reasonable time 19 

after commencing the representation, except when the lawyer will charge a regularly 20 

represented client on the same basis or rate. Any changes in the basis or rate of the fee 21 

or expenses shallmust also be communicated to the client. 22 

(c) Permitted contingency fees. A fee may be contingent on the outcome of the matter 23 

for which the service is rendered, except in a matter in which a contingent fee is 24 

prohibited by paragraph (d) or other law. A contingent fee agreement shallmust be in a 25 

writing signed by the client and shallmust state the method by which the fee is to be 26 



RPC01.05. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

determined, including the percentage or percentages that shallmust accrue to the 27 

lawyer in the event of settlement, trial or appeal; litigation and other expenses to be 28 

deducted from the recovery; and whether such expenses are to be deducted before or 29 

after the contingent fee is calculated. The agreement must clearly notify the client of any 30 

expenses for which the client will be liable whether or not the client is the prevailing 31 

party. Upon conclusion of a contingent fee matter, the lawyer shallmust provide the 32 

client with a written statement stating the outcome of the matter and, if there is a 33 

recovery, showing the remittance to the client and the method of its determination. 34 

(d) Prohibited contingency fees. A lawyer shallmust not enter into an arrangement for, 35 

charge, or collect: 36 

(1) any fee in a domestic relations matter, the payment or amount of which is 37 

contingent upon the securing of a divorce or upon the amount of alimony or 38 

support, or property settlement in lieu thereof; or 39 

(2) a contingent fee for representing a defendant in a criminal case. 40 

(e) Referral fee restrictions. Referral fees paid to a non-lawyer or paid to a lawyer who 41 

does not represent the client in the referred matter must: 42 

(1) not be paid until an attorney fee is payable to the lawyer representing the 43 

client in the referred matter; 44 

(2) not be passed directly to the client; and 45 

(3) be subject to the client giving informed consent confirmed in writing to the 46 

terms of the referral fee arrangement. 47 

A referring party is not prohibited from charging reasonable fees directly to the client 48 

for services actually provided by the referring party, whether related to the claim or not.  49 

(f) No referral fees to potential witnesses. No referral fee may be paid, directly or 50 

indirectly, to a potential witness in the referred case. Even if the lawyer does not intend 51 

to call the person as a witness, if it is foreseeable that an opposing party or third party 52 



RPC01.05. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

may do so, a referral fee violates this rule. Potential witnesses may include treating 53 

providers, eyewitnesses, and family and friends of the client.  54 

(g) Reasonableness of referral fee. Any referral fee payable in the case must be 55 

reasonable in proportion to the total attorney fees that may ultimately be 56 

earnedobtained. The factors to be considered in determining the reasonableness of a 57 

referral fee include the following: 58 

(1) the time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty of the questions 59 

involved and the skill requisite to perform the legal service properly; 60 

(2) the likelihood, if apparent to the client, that the acceptance of the particular 61 

employment will preclude other employment by the lawyer; 62 

(3) the fee customarily charged in the locality for similar legal services; 63 

(4) the amount of attorney fees involved and the results that may ultimately be 64 

earned; 65 

(5) the time limitations imposed by the client or by the circumstances; 66 

(6) the nature and length of the professional relationship with the client; 67 

(7) the experience, reputation and ability of the lawyer or lawyers performing the 68 

services; and 69 

(8) whether the attorney fee is fixed or contingent. 70 

(eh) A licensed paralegal practitioner may not enter into a contingent fee agreement 71 

with a client. 72 

(fi) Before providing any services, a licensed paralegal practitioner must provide the 73 

client with a written agreement that: 74 

(1) states the purpose for which the licensed paralegal practitioner has been 75 

retained; 76 

(2) identifies the services to be performed; 77 

Commented [NS1]: What about a contingency fee case 
where case isn’t successful?  
 
What about leaving this to the market?  

Commented [NS2]: Is this the right word to use?  

Commented [NS3]: Include relevant factors here.  



RPC01.05. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

(3) identifies the rate or fee for the services to be performed and whether and to 78 

what extent the client will be responsible for any costs, expenses or 79 

disbursements in the course of the representation; 80 

(4) includes a statement printed in 12-point boldface type that the licensed 81 

paralegal practitioner is not an attorney and is limited to practice in only those 82 

areas in which the licensed paralegal practitioner is licensed;  83 

(5) includes a provision stating that the client may report complaints relating to a 84 

licensed paralegal practitioner or the unauthorized practice of law to the Office 85 

of Professional Conduct, including a toll-free number and Internet website;  86 

(6) describes the document to be prepared;  87 

(7) describes the purpose of the document; 88 

(8) describes the process to be followed in preparing the document; 89 

(9) states whether the licensed paralegal practitioner will be filing the document 90 

on the client’s behalf; and 91 

(10) states the approximate time necessary to complete the task. 92 

(gj) A licensed paralegal practitioner may not make an oral or written statement 93 

guaranteeing or promising an outcome, unless the licensed paralegal practitioner has 94 

some basis in fact for making the guarantee or promise. 95 

Comment 96 

Reasonableness of Fee and Expenses 97 

[1] Paragraph (a) requires that lawyers charge fees that are reasonable under the 98 

circumstances. The factors specified in (a)(1) through (a)(8) are not exclusive. Nor will 99 

each factor be relevant in each instance. Paragraph (a) also requires that expenses for 100 

which the client will be charged must be reasonable. A lawyer may seek reimbursement 101 

for the cost of services performed in-house, such as copying, or for other expenses 102 

incurred in-house, such as telephone charges, either by charging a reasonable amount to 103 



RPC01.05. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

which the client has agreed in advance or by charging an amount that reasonably 104 

reflects the cost incurred by the lawyer. 105 

Basis or Rate of Fee 106 

[2] When the lawyer has regularly represented a client, they ordinarily will have 107 

evolved an understanding concerning the basis or rate of the fee and the expenses for 108 

which the client will be responsible. In a new client-lawyer relationship, however, an 109 

understanding as to fees and expenses must be promptly established. Generally, it is 110 

desirable to furnish the client with at least a simple memorandum or copy of the 111 

lawyer’s customary fee arrangements that states the general nature of the legal services 112 

to be provided, the basis, rate or total amount of the fee and whether and to what extent 113 

the client will be responsible for any costs, expenses or disbursements in the course of 114 

the representation. A written statement concerning the terms of the engagement 115 

reduces the possibility of misunderstanding. 116 

[3] Contingent fees, like any other fees, are subject to the reasonableness standard of 117 

paragraph (a) of this Rule. In determining whether a particular contingent fee is 118 

reasonable, or whether it is reasonable to charge any form of contingent fee, a lawyer 119 

must consider the factors that are relevant under the circumstances. Applicable law 120 

may impose limitations on contingent fees, such as a ceiling on the percentage 121 

allowable, or may require a lawyer to offer clients an alternative basis for the fee. 122 

Applicable law also may apply to situations other than a contingent fee, for example, 123 

government regulations regarding fees in certain tax matters. 124 

Terms of Payment 125 

[4] A lawyer may require advance payment of a fee but is obligated to return any 126 

unearned portion. See Rule1.16(d). A lawyer may accept property in payment for 127 

services, such as an ownership interest in an enterprise, providing this does not involve 128 

acquisition of a proprietary interest in the cause of action or subject matter of the 129 

litigation contrary to Rule 1.8(i). However, a fee paid in property instead of money may 130 



RPC01.05. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

be subject to the requirements of Rule 1.8(a) because such fees often have the essential 131 

qualities of a business transaction with the client. 132 

[5] An agreement may not be made whose terms might induce the lawyer improperly to 133 

curtail services for the client or perform them in a way contrary to the client's interest. 134 

For example, a lawyer should not enter into an agreement whereby services are to be 135 

provided only up to a stated amount when it is foreseeable that more extensive services 136 

probably will be required, unless the situation is adequately explained to the client. 137 

Otherwise, the client might have to bargain for further assistance in the midst of a 138 

proceeding or transaction. However, it is proper to define the extent of services in light 139 

of the client's ability to pay. A lawyer should not exploit a fee arrangement based 140 

primarily on hourly charges by using wasteful procedures. 141 

Prohibited Contingent Fees 142 

[6] Paragraph (d) prohibits a lawyer from charging a contingent fee in a domestic 143 

relations matter when payment is contingent upon the securing of a divorce or upon the 144 

amount of alimony or support or property settlement to be obtained. This provision 145 

does not preclude a contract for a contingent fee for legal representation in connection 146 

with the recovery of post-judgment balances due under support, alimony or other 147 

financial orders because such contracts do not implicate the same policy concerns. 148 

Referral Fees 149 

[7] Paragraph (e) prohibits lawyers from paying referral fees to persons making 150 

referrals to them until such time as the lawyer who represents the client in the matter is 151 

entitled to be paid attorney fees. In the case of a contingent fee matter, the lawyer may 152 

not pay the referral fee to the referring person until such time as the lawyer who 153 

actually represents the client in the matter is entitled to receive the contingent fee, 154 

which may be at the conclusion of the matter. A lawyer should only refer a matter to a 155 

lawyer whom the referring lawyer reasonably believes is competent to handle the 156 

matter diligently. See Rules 1.1 and 1.3. Paragraph (e)(2) prohibits passing along the 157 

referral fee to the client either as a cost or an increase of the total fee. A referral fee for 158 



RPC01.05. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

purposes of paragraph (e) is any exchange of value, whether in cash or in kind, 159 

bestowing an economic benefit to the referring party beyond what would be considered 160 

marginal or of minimal value for accounting and tax purposes under applicable tax law. 161 

For the definitions of “informed consent” and “confirmed in writing”, see Rule 1.0(b) 162 

and (f).  163 

[8] Referral fees to a non-lawyer who is a potential witness may create a conflict of 164 

interest between the client and the potential witness referring party. Additionally, the 165 

payment of a referral fee to a witness may create such a pervasive and serious 166 

appearance of impropriety to the trier of fact that a client’s case may be significantly 167 

compromised. Before entering into an agreement to pay a referral fee, the lawyer must 168 

evaluate whether the person requesting the referral fee could potentially testify to facts 169 

or issues that might be relevant if the anticipated claim should proceed to trial. Even if 170 

the lawyer does not intend to call the person as a witness, if it is foreseeable that an 171 

opposing party or third party may do so a referral fee violates this rule and is 172 

prohibited under paragraph (f). Potential witnesses may include treating providers, 173 

eyewitnesses, and family and friends of the client. This rule does not prohibit the 174 

referring party from charging reasonable fees directly to the client for services actually 175 

provided by the referring party, whether related to the claim or not.   176 

[9] To the extent that the factors in (1)(a) are applicable, they may provide some guidance on 177 

the reasonableness referenced in paragraph (g). 178 

Disputes over Fees 179 

[79] If a procedure has been established for resolution of fee disputes, such as an 180 

arbitration or mediation procedure established by the Bar, the lawyer must comply with 181 

the procedure when it is mandatory, and, even when it is voluntary, the lawyer should 182 

conscientiously consider submitting to it. Law may prescribe a procedure for 183 

determining a lawyer's fee, for example, in representation of an executor or 184 

administrator, a class or a person entitled to a reasonable fee as part of the measure of 185 

Commented [NS4]: This is defining a referral fee. This 
needs to be in the rule that defines terms, not in the 
comment here.  
 
Proposed solution:  
The struck definition was moved up to the beginning of 
paragraph (e). 

Commented [NS5]: This seems to be rule-like language.  
 
Proposed solution:  
The struck language was added to paragraphs (f) and (g). 

Commented [NS6]: Put this in the rule.  
 
Proposed solution: added relevant factors to paragraph (g).  



RPC01.05. Amend. Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

damages. The lawyer entitled to such a fee and a lawyer representing another party 186 

concerned with the fee should comply with the prescribed procedure. 187 

[810] This rule differs from the ABA model rule. 188 

[8a10a] This rule differs from the ABA Model Rule by including certain restrictions on 189 

licensed paralegal practitioners. 190 



RPC05.04. Amend.  Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

Rule 5.4. Professional Independence of a Lawyer 1 

(a) A lawyer may provide legal services pursuant to this Rule only if there is at all times 2 

no interference with the lawyer’s: 3 

(1) professional independence of judgment, 4 

(2) duty of loyalty to a client, and 5 

(3) protection of client confidences. 6 

(b) A lawyer may permit a person to recommend, retain, or pay the lawyer to render legal 7 

services for another. 8 

 (c) A lawyer or law firm may share legal fees with pay a referral fee to a nonlawyer only 9 

if the referral fee complies with Rule 1.5.:  10 

(1) the fee to be shared is reasonable and the fee-sharing arrangement has been 11 

authorized as required by Utah Supreme Court Standing Order No. 15; 12 

(2) the lawyer or law firm provides written notice to the affected client and, if 13 

applicable, to any other person paying the legal fees; 14 

(3) the written notice describes the relationship with the nonlawyer, including the 15 

fact of the fee-sharing arrangement; and 16 

(4) the lawyer or law firm provides the written notice before accepting 17 

representation or before sharing fees from an existing client. 18 

(d) A lawyer may practice law with nonlawyers, or in an organization, including a 19 

partnership, in which a financial interest is held or managerial authority is exercised by 20 

one or more persons who are nonlawyers, provided that the nonlawyers or the 21 

organization has been authorized as required by Utah Supreme Court Standing Order 22 

No. 15 and provided the lawyer shall: 23 

(1) before accepting a representation, provide written notice to a prospective client 24 

that one or more nonlawyers holds a financial interest in the organization in which 25 



RPC05.04. Amend.  Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

the lawyer practices or that one or more nonlawyers exercises managerial 26 

authority over the lawyer; and 27 

(2) set forth in writing to a client the financial and managerial structure of the 28 

organization in which the lawyer practices. 29 

Comments 30 

[1] The provisions of this Rule are to protect the lawyer’s professional independence of 31 

judgment, to assure that the lawyer is loyal to the needs of the client, and to protect clients 32 

from the disclosure of their confidential information. Where someone other than the 33 

client pays the lawyer's fee or salary, manages the lawyer’s work, or recommends 34 

retention of the lawyer, that arrangement does not modify the lawyer's obligation to the 35 

client. As stated in paragraph (a), such arrangements must not interfere with the lawyer’s 36 

professional judgment. See also Rule 1.8(f) (lawyer may accept compensation from a third 37 

party as long as there is no interference with the lawyer’s independent professional 38 

judgment and the client gives informed consent). This Rule does not lessen a lawyer’s 39 

obligation to adhere to the Rules of Professional Conduct and does not authorize a 40 

nonlawyer to practice law by virtue of being in a business relationship with a lawyer. It 41 

may be impossible for a lawyer to work in a firm where a nonlawyer owner or manager 42 

has a duty to disclose client information to third parties, as the lawyer’s duty to maintain 43 

client confidences would be compromised. 44 

[2] The Rule also expresses traditional limitations on permitting a third party to direct or 45 

regulate the lawyer’s professional judgment in rendering legal services to another. See 46 

also Rule 1.8(f) (lawyer may accept compensation from a third party as long as there is 47 

no interference with the lawyer’s independent professional judgment and the client gives 48 

informed consent). 49 

[3] Paragraph (c) permits individual lawyers or law firms to pay nonlawyers for client 50 

referrals in accordance with Rule 1.5. Other fee sharing arrangements with non-lawyers 51 

besides referral fee arrangements are governed by Supreme Court Standing Order No. 52 



RPC05.04. Amend.  Redline Draft: June 22, 2021 

15., share fees with nonlawyers, or allow third party retention. In each of these instances, 53 

the financial arrangement must be reasonable, authorized as required under Supreme 54 

Court Standing Order No. 15, and disclosed in writing to the client before engagement 55 

and before fees are shared.  Whether in accepting or paying for referrals, or fee-sharing, 56 

the lawyer must protect the lawyer’s professional judgment, ensure the lawyer’s loyalty 57 

to the client, and protect client confidences. 58 

[4] Paragraph (d) permits individual lawyers or law firms to enter into business or 59 

employment relationships with nonlawyers, whether through nonlawyer ownership or 60 

investment in a law practice, joint venture, or through employment by a nonlawyer 61 

owned entity. In each instance, the nonlawyer owned entity must be approved by the 62 

Utah Supreme Court for authorization under Standing Order No. 15. 63 

[5] This rule differs from the ABA model rule. 64 


	Draft Agenda 2021-08-02
	Tab 1
	2021-06-07 RPC Minutes
	Tab 2
	Colorado Rule 8.4
	Opinion--Rule 8.4(g) Colorado Constitutionality
	Pennsylvania Rule 8.4
	Opinion--Rule 8.4(g) Pennsylvania Constitutionality



